CITY OF COCKBURN

SUMMARY OF MINUTES OF ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING HELD ON THURSDAY, 8 JULY 2010 AT 7:00 PM

			Page
1.	DECL	ARATION OF MEETING	1
2.	APPO	DINTMENT OF PRESIDING MEMBER (IF REQUIRED)	3
3.	DISC	LAIMER (TO BE READ ALOUD BY PRESIDING MEMBER)	3
4	DECL	1 08/07/2010) - ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RECEIPT OF WRITTEN ARATIONS OF FINANCIAL INTERESTS AND CONFLICT OF REST (BY PRESIDING MEMBER)	3
5	(OCM	1 08/07/2010) - APOLOGIES AND LEAVE OF ABSENCE	3
6.	ACTIO	ON TAKEN ON PREVIOUS PUBLIC QUESTIONS TAKEN ON CE	
7	(OCM	1 08/07/2010) - PUBLIC QUESTION TIME	4
8.	CON	FIRMATION OF MINUTES	11
	8.1	(MINUTE NO 4304) (OCM 08/07/2010) - ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING - 10/06/2010	11
9.	WRIT	TEN REQUESTS FOR LEAVE OF ABSENCE	11
10.	DEPL	JTATIONS AND PETITIONS	11
11.		NESS LEFT OVER FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING (IF DURNED)	11
12	(OCM NOT PAPE	1 08/07/2010) - 12 DECLARATION OF COUNCILLORS WHO HAVE GIVEN DUE CONSIDERATION TO MATTERS IN THE BUSINESS ER	11
13.	COU	NCIL MATTERS	12
	13.1	(MINUTE NO 4305) (OCM 08/07/2010) - SCHEDULED AUDIT AND STRATEGIC FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING - 15 JULY 2010 (5009) (S DOWNING)	12
14.	PLAN	INING AND DEVELOPMENT DIVISION ISSUES	14
	14.1	(MINUTE NO 4306) (OCM 08/07/2010) - CONSENT FOR EASEMENT OVER RESERVE 30861, MUNSTER - OWNER: STATE OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA - APPLICANT: COCKBURN CEMENT LIMITED (3300016) (K SIM) (ATTACH)	14
	14.2	(MINUTE NO 4307) (OCM 08/07/2010) - FINAL CONSIDERATION OF AMENDMENT NO. 78 TO CITY OF COCKBURN TOWN PLANNING SCHEME NO. 3 - MODIFYING CLAUSE 5.5 OF THE SCHEME TO ALLOW FOR THE VARIATION OR EXTINGUISHMENT OF RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS, EASEMENTS AND RIGHT OF WAYS - OWNER: N/A - APPLICANT: CITY OF COCKBURN (93078) (M CARBONE)	18

14.3	(MINUTE NO 4308) (OCM 08/07/2010) - CONSIDERATION OF IMLAH COURT TRAFFIC STUDY - OWNER: N/A - APPLICANT: CITY OF COCKBURN (93027) (M CARBONE) (ATTACH)	21
14.4	(MINUTE NO 4309) (OCM 08/07/2010) - PROPOSED SCHEME AMENDMENT NO. 85 TO CITY OF COCKBURN TOWN PLANNING SCHEME NO. 3 AND MODIFICATION TO THE LOCAL COMMERCIAL STRATEGY - OWNER: VARIOUS - APPLICANT: PLANNING SOLUTIONS (93085) (M CARBONE, A TROSIC) (ATTACH)	24
14.5	(MINUTE NO 4310) (OCM 08/07/2010) - ADOPTION OF SCHEME AMENDMENT NO. 80 FOR FINAL APPROVAL - REZONING LOT 9012 WENTWORTH PARADE, SUCCESS FROM 'RESIDENTIAL R20' TO 'RESIDENTIAL R25' - OWNER: GOLD ESTATES OF AUSTRALIA - APPLICANT: ROBERTS DAY (93080) (D DI RENZO) (ATTACH)	30
14.6	(MINUTE NO 4311) (OCM 08/07/2010) - CONSIDERATION OF DRAFT CITY OF COCKBURN LOCAL GOVERNMENT INVENTORY REVIEW; PROPOSED SCHEME AMENDMENT NO. 86 AND; PREPARATION OF DRAFT LOCAL PLANNING POLICY (HERITAGE CONSERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES) - APPLICANT: CITY OF COCKBURN - OWNER: VARIOUS (93086) (D DI RENZO) (ATTACH)	34
14.7	(MINUTE NO 4312) (OCM 08/07/2010) - FINAL CONSIDERATION OF LOCAL PLANNING POLICY APD60 'MURIEL COURT PRECINCT DESIGN GUIDELINES AND CONSIDERATION OF MINOR MODIFICATION TO MURIEL COURT STRUCTURE PLAN' - OWNER: VARIOUS - APPLICANT: CITY OF COCKBURN (SM/M/009) (M CARBONE) (ATTACH)	52
14.8	(MINUTE NO 4313) (OCM 08/07/2010) - PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO MASTERPLAN AND PROPOSED DISTRICT STRUCTURE PLAN - HOPE VALLEY WATTLEUP REDEVELOPMENT AREA (LATITUDE 32) (SM/M/015) (C CATHERWOOD) (ATTACH)	57
14.9	(MINUTE NO 4314) (OCM 08/07/2010) - DETAILED AREA PLANS FOR LOTS 785 AND 786 PORT COOGEE, NORTH COOGEE - PREPARED BY: TAYLOR BURRELL BARNETT - PROPONENT: AUSTRALAND (PS/A/001) (T WATSON) (ATTACH)	
FINAN	NCE AND CORPORATE SERVICES DIVISION ISSUES	68
15.1	(MINUTE NO 4315) (OCM 08/07/2010) - LIST OF CREDITORS PAID - MAY 2010 (5605) (N MAURICIO) (ATTACH)	68
15.2	(MINUTE NO 4316) (OCM 08/07/2010) - STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITY AND ASSOCIATED REPORTS - MAY 2010 (5505) (N MAURICIO) (ATTACH)	70
ENGI	NEERING AND WORKS DIVISION ISSUES	74
16.1	(MINUTE NO 4317) (OCM 08/07/2010) - TENDER NO. RFT 33/2009 - CLEANING SERVICES - PUBLIC, COMMUNITY & ADMINISTRATION FACILITIES (RFT 33/2009) (M LITTLETON / D VICKERY) (ATTACH)	7/
	VIOREIX 1 / (A I I AOI I)	/ -

15.

16.

17.	COM	MUNITY SERVICES DIVISION ISSUES	82
		(MINUTE NO 4318) (OCM 08/07/2010) - EXTENSION OF TIME	82
	17.1	(MINUTE NO 4319) (OCM 08/07/2010) - COCKBURN VOCATIONAL CENTRE (INC.) - LEASE AGREEMENT - 81 CORDELIA AVENUE, COOLBELLUP (1105101) (R AVARD) (ATTACH)	82
18.	EXEC	CUTIVE DIVISION ISSUES	87
19.	MOTI	ONS OF WHICH PREVIOUS NOTICE HAS BEEN GIVEN	87
20.		CES OF MOTION GIVEN AT THE MEETING FOR CONSIDERATION EXT MEETING	87
21.		BUSINESS OF AN URGENT NATURE INTRODUCED BY NCILLORS OR OFFICERS	87
	21.1	(MINUTE NO 4320) (OCM 08/07/2010) - PROPOSED CHANGES TO SCHOOL ZONES	87
22.	MATT	TERS TO BE NOTED FOR INVESTIGATION, WITHOUT DEBATE	88
22.1		1 08/07/2010) - MATTERS TO BE NOTED FOR INVESTIGATION, OUT DEBATE	88
23.	CON	FIDENTIAL BUSINESS	88
24		<u>JTE NO 4321)</u> (OCM 08/07/2010) - RESOLUTION OF COMPLIANCE TION 3.18(3), LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1995)	88
25	(OCN	1.08/07/2010) - CLOSURE OF MEETING	20

Document Set ID: 4205347 Version: 1, Version Date: 04/12/2014

Document Set ID: 4205347 Version: 1, Version Date: 04/12/2014

CITY OF COCKBURN

MINUTES OF ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING HELD ON THURSDAY, 8 JULY 2010 AT 7:00 PM

PRESENT:

ELECTED MEMBERS

Mr L Howlett - Mayor (Presiding Member)

Mr I Whitfield - Councillor
Ms L Smith - Councillor
Mrs C Reeve-Fowkes - Councillor
Mr T Romano - Councillor
Mrs S Limbert - Councillor
Mrs V Oliver - Councillor
Mrs R O'Brien - Councillor

IN ATTENDANCE

Mr M. Littleton - Acting Chief Executive Officer

Mr R. Avard - A/Director, Administration & Community Services

Mr S. Downing
 Mr D. Arndt
 Mr D. Vickery
 Ms V. Viljoen
 Director, Finance & Corporate Services
 Manager, Infrastructure Services
 Personal Assistance to CEO

1. DECLARATION OF MEETING

The Presiding Member declared the meeting open at 7.00pm.

The Presiding Member acknowledge the presence of Mr Ray Lees, JP and Freeman of the City, before making the following announcements:

Launch of Safety and Security Service (Cosafe)

The City's new safety and security service (Cosafe) was launched on Wednesday 23 June 2010. Wilson Security have been contracted by the City to provide a 24 hours a day, seven days a week and 365 days a year service with four mobile CoSafe Officers on duty at all times in clearly identifiable vehicles.

Public Meeting - Broadband & Communications

The City hosted a public meeting on Broadband & Communications on Monday, 21 June 2010 that was attended by local members of Parliament, the Director South West Groups, Landcorp, Telstra, Melville Cockburn Chamber of Commerce, Elected Members, Staff and ratepayers from across the City.

Resolutions carried at the meeting essentially called on Telstra and other communication carriers to urgently upgrade the infrastructure within the region to facilitate the efficient delivery of broadband internet services for businesses and residents ahead of any rollout of the NBN Company which may occur within the next five years; writing to the State Government and the WA Planning Commission seeking changes to planning conditions for the development of residential, commercial and industrial land through the mandating of the provision of infrastructure to facilitate the rollout of broadband services. It also called for members of the Urban Development Institute of Australia who are developing land to provide the relevant infrastructure to facilitate high speed broadband access.

The meeting asked for a Report by 31 July 2010 from Telstra detailing the status of all capital infrastructure for the City of Cockburn and the South West Group region and the timetable for its Capital Expenditure investment in the Region.

Public Meeting – Developer Contributions

The City has scheduled a public meeting for 6.00pm on Monday, 16 August 2010 relating to the subject of Developer Contributions. The venue will be the City's Function Room, Administration Building. More details will follow in coming weeks.

John Curtin Memorial Breakfast

The Presiding Member was privileged to attend the John Curtin Memorial Breakfast at the Fremantle Town Hall on Monday 5 July 2010 where the keynote address was given by the US Consul General, Dr Kenneth Churn and to hear the announcement that Jessica Keye, a student from the Lakeland Senior High School had won the John Curtin Essay Competition and that a fellow student, Rochelle Gaudieri, was a highly commended runner up. Both are Year 10 students at the Lakeland Senior High School's Academic Enrichment Program co-ordinated by Mr Alan Kennedy and the teacher, Kate Beilken. It is pleasing to see the wonderful achievements of students at schools across our community.

Councillor Val Oliver - Distinguished Service Award - Local Government

The City has been advised that Councillor Val Oliver is to be the recipient of the Western Australian Local Government Distinguished Service Award to be presented during local government week.

2

NAIDOC Week

The City has hosted a variety of NAIDOC Week activities and yesterday participated in a very well attended flag raising ceremony, the unveiling of the latest acquisition to be included in the City's art collection, a painting by Mark Radloff, titled; 'Yarning' (on display in the Gallery outside the Council Chamber) that was followed by a DVD presentation on the Lost Generation Project that was produced under the auspices of the Disability Services Commission. Mark Radloff's painting compliments the painting by Justin Slater unveiled during NAIDOC Week last year.

2. APPOINTMENT OF PRESIDING MEMBER (If required)

Not applicable.

3. DISCLAIMER (To be read aloud by Presiding Member)

Members of the public, who attend Council Meetings, should not act immediately on anything they hear at the Meetings, without first seeking clarification of Council's position. Persons are advised to wait for written advice from the Council prior to taking action on any matter that they may have before Council.

4 (OCM 08/07/2010) - ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RECEIPT OF WRITTEN DECLARATIONS OF FINANCIAL INTERESTS AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST (BY PRESIDING MEMBER)

❖ CIr Tony Romano - Item 14.7❖ CIr Ian Whitfield - Item 15.1

5 (OCM 08/07/2010) - APOLOGIES AND LEAVE OF ABSENCE

Deputy Mayor Kevin Allen
 CIr Helen Attrill
 Apology
 Apology

6. ACTION TAKEN ON PREVIOUS PUBLIC QUESTIONS TAKEN ON NOTICE

Nil



7 (OCM 08/07/2010) - 7 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

Mr Ray Lees, Hamilton Hill

Agenda Item 16.1 – Tender # RFT33/2009 – Cleaning Services – Public, Community & Administration Facilities

- Q1 What reference checks have been undertaken on the lowest tenderer MPJ Cleaning Services to confirm they cannot adequately carry out any part of the cleaning tender? I understand that they are undertaking a large aquatic centre and hall cleaning contract for Fremantle City council and should have been thoroughly investigated in being the lowest price. This is ratepayers money you are spending and we do not want to pay for over-cleaning when it is not necessary?
- A1. MPJ Cleaning does not have any current contracts with the City of Cockburn however we are aware that the proprietor of MPJ Cleaning is also identified as the Operations Manager of MP Cleaning and vice versa. 3 of the 4 Referees provided in MPJ's submission were exactly the same and were contacted. Regardless, detailed reference checks were undertaken on the shortlisted tenderers in accordance with Clause 1.7 of the Conditions of Tender.
- Q2 What percent of our rates does the extra \$100,000 plus cost represent if the recommended tenderer is preferred over the current cleaner, whose cleaning is adequate or they would have been sacked? Are we paying this much extra rates for a supposedly improved cleaning outcome when the current one is acceptable, and will be improved anyway with their reviewed pricing?
- A2 Council currently employs 2 contractors, MP Cleaning and Cleandustrial to undertake cleaning of a range of Council facilities. It is anticipated that the City will spend \$605,000 on cleaning services in 2009/10. The City has budgeted approximately \$695,000 for cleaning services in the 2010/11 financial year (or a 15% increase in projected costs). \$100,000 equates to a rate increase of less than 0.25%.

Performance of the current contractor is a matter between the City of Cockburn and the respective contractors themselves and not a matter to be debated at public question time. I can say that there have been issues of non-conformance and these matters are addressed by Council officers and the contractor directly. I can also advise that performance management of MP Cleaning takes substantially more of officers' time than performance management of Cleandustrial.

Q3 Do the Elected Members give any consideration in responsibly managing ratepayers money in this tight economic climate? They should be taking a close look at whether they need to accept higher

4

prices and possible over-servicing for something that is already provided adequately at a much lower price?

- A3 Each submission has been evaluated by officers that are directly responsible for managing this service on a daily basis and by an industry consultant. The probity of the evaluation process has been subsequently reviewed and reported to Council. Many Councillors have spoken directly with officers and queried the process, the information and the recommendation. The information and recommendation has been intensively scrutinized. The tenderers were assessed against the evaluation criteria documented and Council must accept the submission which represents the most advantageous service to Council.
- Q4 The report indicates that MP Cleaning Contractors are considered not to have the capacity to fulfill the stringent requirements of the contract. Yet they are currently cleaning all of Group 1 in this new tender and most of the halls in the new Group 2. How did the report come to the conclusion that they could not meet the requirements, particularly as the tender allows for the two cleaning groups to be split between cleaning contractors and their cleaning can be reduced, thus keeping down the price to ratepayers?
- A4 The information provided by each tenderer was assessed against the qualitative criteria incorporated in the tender document. None of the Tenderers provided particularly differing information that supported their claims against the scope of Group 1 compared to Group 2. Group 1 and Group 2 were scored separately and MP Cleaning scored relatively poorly for both groups. It is clear that MP Cleaning have failed to address the evaluation criteria adequately and have been scored on that basis.
- Q5 The report indicates that Cleandustrial already undertakes the cleaning on various buildings and expected to have very few transition problems in cleaning more properties, but MP, who have been cleaning more Council properties in the past and currently than Cleandustrial, do not have the transition capacity. How can this be logically concluded?
- A5 Both Cleandustrial and Arrix provided a detailed transition strategy. MP Cleaning did not.
- Q6 Did the base tender pricing schedules include all Council facilities that needed cleaning, and the correct frequencies including additional seasonal cleans that are expected? Was Banjup Hall and Bibra Lake north toilet block included in the pricing schedule, together with 6 BBQs at Coogee Beach, regular Sunday cleans at Yangebup hall at double time and regular weekend, public holiday and school holiday cleans of Manning Park main toilet block?



- At the time the tender document was prepared it included all Council facilities requiring cleaning. Since advertising additional facilities have come on line. Bibra Lake North toilet block was included in the schedule. This toilet block has since been demolished but will be replaced and will require cleaning. Five Coogee Beach BBQ's were included in the schedule and a further BBQ has since been installed.
- Q7 Cleandustrial have been rated as high as Arrix in their cleaning quality. If that is the standard required, then has an inspection of their standard of cleaning at Len Packham, Beeliar, Atwell halls, Council Libraries and Administration been undertaken by Councillors?
- A7 Council officers conduct regular inspections to manage its contractors.

 The matter before Council does not relate to contract management of the current contract.
- MP Cleaning Contractors currently undertakes cleaning of Yangebup Hall, Memorial Hall, Coogee Hall, Centenary Hall (until closed), Jandakot Hall, Atwell Clubrooms, Senior Citizens Centre and Banjup Hall. Have these been inspected by council Staff and Elected Members that they are being cleaned to the required standard, bearing in mind that pricing is increased considerably in the new tender? MP also cleans all Council's BBQs and public toilets so has a demonstrated capacity to undertake any part of the cleaning tender at a far lower price for ratepayers.
- A8 MP Cleaning's past performance and their tender submission against Section 5.3 and 5.5 of RFT 33/2009 were considered during the evaluation process.
- In the previous tender MP was 5 percent better in the evaluation assessment between Cleandustrial and MP, yet MP is 36% lower in this tender. How can the evaluations be so vastly different when there has been no major change in cleaning performance and requirements? And the previous tender was stricter than the new tender in terms of outcomes and performance indicators and checks and the cleaning schedules were far more accurate and capably provided!
- A9 MP Cleaning's submission was assessed against the evaluation criteria advertised in RFT 33/2009. A rigourous process has been followed to develop a tender recommendation for Council's consideration.
- Q10 Why is MP the preferred cleaner for emergency callouts under the current cleaning contracts when, according to their very low scoring allocation, they should be the non-preferred cleaner?
- A10 MP Cleaning are called out to emergency cleaning of those facilities that they have the day to day cleaning responsibility for. The same



practice is applied to Cleandustrial.

- Q11 How much was the consultant for this tender paid as there appears to be a very low standard service provided with so many apparent inaccuracies?
- A11 \$22,110
- Q12 If the current cleaning contractors are considered incapable of meeting the required cleaning standard, then why have they been engaged as preferred suppliers for 3 years since the expiry of the last contract without being replaced, but in actual fact having their cleaning schedule extended?
- A12 Both contractors, MP Cleaning and Cleandustrial, have had their contracts extended whilst a new contract was prepared, advertised and awarded. This was the most practical and expedient way for the required cleaning to be undertaken throughout the transition period to a new contract.

Mr Tihan Robert Cenolli, Hamilton Hill

Agenda Item 16.1 – Tender # RFT33/2009 – Cleaning Services – Public, Community & Administration Facilities

- As a ratepayer, I know I speak for many ratepayers. I am concerned that the recommendation is for an untried tenderer, although well established, which will cost ratepayers an unknown amount well over \$0.5 million more than the tender submitted by the current contracted cleaners, for the duration of the contract. What evidence, if any, is there that the current cleaners have not or are not performing to the required contract specifications?
- A1. Council currently employs 2 contractors, MP Cleaning and Cleandustrial to undertake cleaning of a range of facilities. It is anticipated that the City will spend \$605,000 on cleaning services in 2009/10. The City has budgeted approximately \$695,000 for cleaning services in the 2010/11 financial year (or a 15% increase).

Council is currently considering tender RFT 33/2009 Cleaning Services. Each submission has been evaluated against the 8 criteria advertised in that document. The evaluation was conducted by staff who are actively involved in the delivery of this service for Council and an industry consultant. They have made a recommendation to Council to award the Tender to the contractor that in their opinion, after reviewing all of the detail provided by each tenderer, represents the most advantageous service to Council.

Q2	Are	the	new	tender	specifications	any	different	from	the	old	tender
											7

specifications in how the cleaning is to be carried out?

- A2 The tender specifications and documentation have been amended to reflect contemporary standards and more emphasis has been placed on performance and management of the service. The new scope also represents an optimization of cleaning services. The schedule was developed by staff responsible for managing the contract services and facility themselves and were aimed at consolidating the cleans to better align with community facility bookings and the expected usage of facilities and reserves.
- Q3 Are the current cleaners performing to the required standard for what they are being paid?
- А3 The performance of the current contractor is a matter between the City of Cockburn and the contractors themselves and not a matter for debate at public question time. I can say that there have been instances of non-conformance and these matters are addressed by Council's officers and the contractor directly.
- Q4 Have the current cleaners increased their price in the new tender, which should allow for an improved standard of cleaning and if so, by how much?
- Α4 The actual costs provided by each tenderer is confidential and currently being considered by Council this evening. The relative cost however should not impact on the standard of cleaning as it is specified in the scope and specification.
- Q5 If the current cleaners were not performing to the required standard of their contract, have they been advised of such, and how much evidence is there of this advice?
- A5 Repeating response to Q3 - performance of the current contractor is a matter between the City of Cockburn and the respective contractors themselves and not a matter to be debated at public question time. There have been issues of non-conformance and these matters have been addressed by Council officers and the contractor directly.
- Q My concern is if they have not been performing to a certain standard, they need to be advised of that.
- Α Obviously, they have been advised where there are issues of nonconformance.
- Q Have they been advised in writing?
- Α Yes.
- Q6 If the current cleaners were considered to be that bad with their

cleaning services as they were given low scores, why weren't they either replaced or offered more remuneration to increase their standard?

A6 The item before Council relates to Cleaning Services to Council facilities for an initial period of 3 years from the date of Council making a determination. Each tenderer's submission was assessed against the evaluation criteria advertised in the contract document RFT 33/2009. As previously state, there were eight criteria. The Agenda item, the evaluation process and the industry consultant's report have been through a rigorous review and the recommendation before Council is the result of that process.

Mr Paul Carolan, South Lake

Council's Childcare Scheme Data Base

- Q1 Will the Council 100% compensate affected residents for the computer glitch of 24 June 2010 if they are to become a victim if any fraud if the personal information used to commit such a fraud came from the Councils Childcare Scheme Data Base.
- A1 The City has sent a letter of profound apology for any inconvenience or concern that may have arisen from the most unfortunate incident where information was emailed to other people involved in the Family Day Care Scheme.

Given the nature of the limited information made available and other security measures in place at Centrelink, it is most unlikely a fraud would occur. In the unlikely event that a fraud did occur using information released by the City, the City's insurers would investigate the individual circumstances of any claim. There are also a number of Acts that protect this information, so anyone using the information or spreading the information will be in breach of the Family Assistance Law and the Privacy Act, so it is a crime the use or distribute that information by a third party. The City has approached the Commonwealth seeking them to change the software so that this cannot happen again.

Marko Peselj, Hamilton Hill

- Q1 Mr Littleton was asked did I get official notice in writing and he said "yes". I did not receive anything in writing.
- A1 The question that was asked was "is there evidence of non-conformance" and it can be demonstrated there have been issues of non-conformance against some aspects of the cleaning contract that have been referred to MP Cleaning, in writing. I am certainly happy to

sit down with Mr Peselj and discuss those issues at any time and demonstrate them to him.

Ms Paula Squibb, North Lake (General Manager of Cleandustrial Services)

Agenda Item 16.1 – Tender # RFT33/2009 – Cleaning Services – Public, Community & Administration Facilities

- Q1 Was the recommendation, being put forward this evening, unanimous from the staff and the consultant?
- A1 The evaluation is conducted independently with three panel members undertaking the evaluation. My understanding is that the independent assessments were generally very similar in the way they assessed each bid and the collective evaluation score for all three is included in the Council's agenda.
- Q Sorry, but that did not really answer my question. I think you are referring to the evaluation scores. Was the actual recommendation unanimous?
- A Yes.
- Q2 It was recently stated by the new Facilities Coordinator of the City of Cockburn, on receiving our quotation for cleaning the Cosafe office, and I quote: "I don't know how you people provide the service you provide for the money you charge". Given that the recommended new tenderer, Spotless Services, estimated price is approximately \$50,000 per annum less than Cleandustrial's bid, can Council be confident that they are going to receive a high standard of service when this amounts to approximately, or at least, 30 hours per week that are going to be withdrawn from the tender. Those 30 hours per week have to come from somewhere.
- A2 The evaluation panel believes that the capacity of the recommended tenderer will provide the service to Council in accordance with the standard and specification required of the tenderer; so the answer is 'ves'.
- Q3 Did Council take into consideration, in the evaluation, that two tenders previous to the last one for cleaning services resulted in the cleaning contractors that were chosen either being terminated or altering the contract because they could not do the job for their tender price.
- A3 The matter before Council is an evaluation based on the submissions provided for Tender # RFT33/2009. We try to check and evaluate each submission on its merits and we have obviously considered their prior history and past experience as part of that evaluation.



NOTE: CLR O'BRIEN LEFT THE MEETING AT 7.15PM AND RETURNED AT 7.19PM.

8.	CONFIRM	ATION OF	MINITES
U.		AIIUII UI	

8.1 (MINUTE NO 4304) (OCM 08/07/2010) - ORDINARY COUNCIL **MEETING - 10/06/2010**

RECOMMENDATION

That Council adopt the Minutes of the Ordinary Council Meeting held on Thursday, 10 June 2010, as a true and accurate record.

COUNCIL DECISION

MOVED CIr S LIMBERT SECONDED CIr V OLIVER that the recommendation be adopted.

CARRIED 8/0

9. WRITTEN REQUESTS FOR LEAVE OF ABSENCE

Nil

10. **DEPUTATIONS AND PETITIONS**

Nil

11. **BUSINESS LEFT OVER FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING (If adjourned)**

Nil

12 (OCM 08/07/2010) - 12 DECLARATION OF COUNCILLORS WHO HAVE NOT GIVEN DUE CONSIDERATION TO MATTERS IN THE BUSINESS **PAPER**

Nil.

11

NOTE: AT THIS POINT IN THE MEETING, THE FOLLOWING ITEMS WERE CARRIED BY AN "EN BLOC" RESOLUTION OF COUNCIL:-

14.2	14.3	14.4	14.5	15.2

13. COUNCIL MATTERS

13.1 (MINUTE NO 4305) (OCM 08/07/2010) - SCHEDULED AUDIT AND STRATEGIC FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING - 15 JULY 2010 (5009) (S DOWNING)

RECOMMENDATION							
That Council reschedule the Audit and Strategic Finance Committee	е						
Meeting for, commencing at 6.00 pm.							

COUNCIL DECISION

MOVED CIr S Limbert SECONDED CIr C Reeve-Fowkes that Council reschedule the Audit and Strategic Finance Committee Meeting for Wednesday, 25 August 2010, commencing at 6.00pm.

CARRIED 8/0

Reason for Decision

It has been ascertained that a quorum will not be available for the publicly advertised meeting of the Audit and Strategic Finance Committee scheduled to be held on Thursday, 15 July 2010.

Accordingly, Elected Members have been canvassed and it has been determined that four of the six Audit and Strategic Finance Committee members have confirmed they will be available to meet on Wednesday, 25 August 2010, which will constitute a quorum. One committee member will be back from leave in advance of that date and may also be available to attend. Council Officers have advised they will be available to attend the meeting on this date.

Background

Part 7 of the Local Government Act, 1995 prescribes matters dealing with Audits and financial accounts in local government and requires all Councils to establish an Audit Committee and appoint at least three

12	

persons to the Committee. Council established its Audit and Strategic Finance Committee in November 2009.

The current scenario is that the meeting is held on the third Thursday in March, July and November commencing at 6.00 pm.

Submission

N/A

Report

The Committee consists of five (5) members. Three (3) of the Committee's members will not be in attendance due to leave of absence, resulting in a lack of a quorum for the July 2010 meeting.

Therefore, a recommendation to postpone the meeting to an alternative date in August 2010 has been requested to allow a quorum to be present and the business of the meeting to be conducted.

A notice will be published in the local newspaper of this date change.

Strategic Plan/Policy Implications

Governance Excellence

 To conduct Council business in open public forums and to manage Council affairs by employing publicly accountable practices.

Budget/Financial Implications

N/A

Legal Implications

Sec.5.3 of the Local Government Act, 1995 refers.

Community Consultation

N/A

Attachment(s)

N/A

Advice to Proponent(s)/Submissioners

N/A



Implications of Section 3.18(3) Local Government Act, 1995

Nil.

14. PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIVISION ISSUES

14.1 (MINUTE NO 4306) (OCM 08/07/2010) - CONSENT FOR EASEMENT OVER RESERVE 30861, MUNSTER - OWNER: STATE OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA - APPLICANT: COCKBURN CEMENT LIMITED (3300016) (K SIM) (ATTACH)

RECOMMENDATION

That Council:

- (1) as the holder of the Management Order for Reserve 30861 gives consent for a Crown easement to be established to protect the existing shellsand pipeline in favour of Cockburn Cement Ltd, subject to Cockburn Cement Limited granting a non exclusive access easement over Lot 28 McGrath Road, Munster (in order to connect Reserve 30861 Lake Coogee to McGrath Road); and
- (2) having care control and management of the road reserve (proposed Fremantle-Rockingham controlled access highway), also enter into an agreement with the State of Western Australia and Cockburn Cement Limited to ensure that the shellsand pipeline is relocated away from Lake Coogee prior to the construction of the controlled access highway.

COUNCIL DECISION

MOVED CIr R O'brien SECONDED CIr L Smith that Council:

- (1) as the holder of the Management Order for Reserve 30861, does not give its consent for a Crown easement to be established to protect the existing shellsand pipeline in favour of Cockburn Cement Ltd.; and
- (2) write to the Department of Environment and Conservation requesting they investigate what management practices or conditions could be imposed upon Cockburn Cement Ltd in order to protect Lake Coogee and its environs from the discharge of shellsand originating from the flushing of Cockburn Cement Ltd's shellsand pipeline.

CARRIED 6/2

Reason for Decision

There have been many instances over the last 10 years I have lived next to the lake where I have seen and photographed major shellsand spills emitting a sludge metres into the air at the south end of Lake Coogee and the middle of the west side of Lake Coogee. These spills are allowed apparently and happen because there is a blockage in the pipeline and there are a few places where there is a valve that can be opened to let out the sludge onto the ground and as the pipeline is so close to the lake's edge where the valves are located, the sludge falls into the Lake as well. In the south end you can see the dead melaleuca trees and lifeless grey thick sludge where nothing will grow. The footpath at the south end goes through the area.

Lake Coogee is a 'Category A' wetland and these spills have continued for years. I believe because this lake is not as visible as Bibra Lake or has as many walkers as yet, this practice has been allowed to continue. I have made two complaints, as have other residents. Once Cockburn Cement had a bulldozer come to the west side and just cover the grey sludge with yellow sand.

There have been three large residential subdivisions approved in Munster near the Lake and the new homes are being built. This is the only lake that does not dry out in summer and has had many management reports done on water quality and the surrounding land and vegetation. I would like Council to ask for the EPA or DEC to give Council a report on what can be implemented to stop any spills getting to the lake or happening on the soil around the lake. Perhaps there are solutions such as moving the pipeline away from the lakes edge in some places and put new valves there to release the sludge.

I understand that we only control a small part of land but as we have specific knowledge and have the care of the Lake as our responsibility, I would like Council to initiate some investigation about what can be done about this protection and wait until we have the answers for our portion but also that area owned by the Govt. We cannot stop the govt agreeing to an easement but we could ask the Govt to wait until we have had the reports from these agencies and our own environmental officers. The Cockburn cement have had the use of the pipeline for all these years, the easement is not essential for their continued use that can still go on whilst we are getting more information.

This will be an important part of our wetland system, there are no other Lakes in Perth that have allowed a private industry to continue to spill waste on the edge of the wetland lake damaging the soil and vegetation, not Lake Monger, or anywhere else. The Council should seek that suitable controls be put in place to protect the Lake from these spills before it agrees to an easement, which will put a final control with the industry.



Background

Cockburn Cement has for many years operated a dual pipeline that connects their Munster plant with an inlet/outlet facility at Woodman Point. The purpose of this report is to formalise easements and other arrangements in relation to this dual pipeline.

Submission

Solicitors Minter Ellison acting for Cockburn Cement Limited have written to the City of Cockburn requesting that the City gives consent to a Crown easement in favour of Cockburn Cement to allow legal access and maintenance of its shellsand pipeline that traverses Reserve 30861 (Lake Coogee).

Report

The draft easement document was provided to the City for consideration. This seeks to formalise the current practice whereby Cockburn Cement maintains the dual pipelines that connect their Munster processing plant with the Cockburn Sound inlet/outlet facility at Woodman Point.

Minter Ellison has advised Council officers that pursuant to a state agreement between Cockburn Cement and the State Government, Cockburn Cement have a right to construct a pipeline between the Munster plant and Cockburn Cement. It was this State Agreement that facilitated the construction of the dual pipelines within the Lake Coogee Reserve at the time of establishing the Cockburn Cement Plant.

Cockburn Cement has now sought added security for protection of the dual pipelines by way of a Crown easement over Reserve 30861. The State Government agency responsible for the administration of Crown reserves requires the consent from the body that has the Management Order of the Crown Reserve before granting the easement interest. The City of Cockburn is that body in the case of Reserve 30861 (Lake Coogee).

On review of the location of the pipeline, it was noted that the line also traverses the future Fremantle-Rockingham controlled access highway road reserve. It is not known at this time when the road will be constructed (if ever) but it is obvious that the pipeline will be impacted on and would need to be relocated if the road eventuated. In this regard, Cockburn Cement has agreed to move the pipeline away from the shoreline of Lake Coogee (rather than close) if the road eventuated. Main Roads WA has informed Council officers that they are entering into a similar agreement with Cockburn Cement.

The draft agreement initially prepared by Minter Ellison was referred to the City's solicitors for review. The amendments suggested by McLeods have been incorporated into the proposed agreement.

Cockburn Cement has given an undertaking to negotiate an access easement to follow the existing asphalt path along the northern boundary of Lot 28 McGrath Road to be protected. This path which continues into Reserve 30681 provides access to Cockburn Cement for the maintenance of the pipeline, as well as providing access for the general public to the reserve. This is an important link as there is limited access to the southern end of Lake Coogee. The easement envisaged would allow access to the general public but not to the exclusion of Cockburn Cement.

Strategic Plan/Policy Implications

Demographic Planning

• To ensure development will enhance the levels of amenity currently enjoyed by the community.

Infrastructure Development

• To provide an appropriate range of recreation areas that meets the needs of all age groups within the community.

Lifestyle and Aspiration Achievement

 To foster a sense of community spirit within the district generally and neighbourhoods in particular.

Budget/Financial Implications

N/A

Legal Implications

Land Administration Act 1997

Community Consultation

N/A

Attachment(s)

- 1. Plan of proposed easement
- Location Plan

Advice to Proponent(s)/Submissioners

The Proponent has been advised that this matter is to be considered at the 8 July 2010 Council Meeting.

1

Implications of Section 3.18(3) Local Government Act, 1995

Nil.

14.2 (MINUTE NO 4307) (OCM 08/07/2010) - FINAL CONSIDERATION OF AMENDMENT NO. 78 TO CITY OF COCKBURN TOWN PLANNING SCHEME NO. 3 - MODIFYING CLAUSE 5.5 OF THE SCHEME TO ALLOW FOR THE VARIATION OR EXTINGUISHMENT OF RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS, EASEMENTS AND RIGHT OF WAYS - OWNER: N/A - APPLICANT: CITY OF COCKBURN (93078) (M CARBONE)

RECOMMENDATION

That Council adopt Amendment No. 78 for final approval without modifications and in anticipation of the Hon. Minister's advice that final approval will be granted, the documents be signed, sealed and forwarded to the Western Australian Planning Commission.

COUNCIL DECISION

MOVED CIr S Limbert SECONDED CIr C Reeve-Fowkes that the recommendation be adopted.

CARRIED 8/0

Background

Council at its meeting held on 11 February 2010 resolved to initiate Amendment No. 78 to City of Cockburn Town Planning Scheme No. 3 ("Scheme") for the purposes of advertising. The amendment involves the following:

- deleting existing Clause 5.5 and replacing it with a new Clause 5.5 which enables the extinguishment or variation of any restrictive covenant, easement or right of way as allowed for by Clause 11(1) of Schedule 7 of the *Planning and Development* Act 2005; and
- adding a new Schedule 13 'Schedule of Extinguished or Varied Covenants' to the Scheme Text.

Submission

The amendment has been advertised for the required period and is being presented to Council for final consideration.

18	

Report

The Scheme amendment was referred to the Environmental Protection Authority ("EPA") in accordance with Section 7 of the Environmental Protection Act 1986. The EPA advised that the overall environmental impact of the amendment would not be severe enough to warrant formal assessment under the Environmental Protection Act 1986. The amendment was subsequently advertised seeking public comment in accordance with the Town Planning Regulations 1967 for 42 days. The scheme amendment attracted no submissions.

This scheme amendment will ensure that appropriate clauses are incorporated into the scheme which enables the extinguishment or variation of any restrictive covenant, easement or right of way, consistent with the intention of Clause 11(1) of Schedule 7 of the Planning and Development Act 2005.

This will allow for the extinguishment or variation of restrictive covenants and easements where appropriate circumstances exist and where suitable consultation and process is undertaken. The City has sought legal advice on the most appropriate method of incorporating these provisions into the scheme, and this amendment is consistent with the legal advice provided by the City's Solicitors.

The proposed changes and additions to Clause 5.5 of the City's scheme are summarised below:

- Clarify and simplify the existing provisions which relate to restrictive covenants applying to residential density.
- New clauses allowing Council to vary other restrictive covenants, easements and rights of ways where there is suitable justification and it is in accordance with orderly and proper planning.
- The process for varying or extinguishing the restrictive covenant, easement or rights of ways. This includes Council's resolution to extinguish or vary the advertising process and requirements to undertake a separate scheme amendment to list the extinguishment or variation in Schedule 13 of the City's scheme.
- The ability for Council to recover the costs of varying or extinguishing the restrictive covenant, easement or right of way.

It should be noted that this proposed amendment only involves incorporating the relevant clauses into the Scheme to enable the variation or extinguishment of restrictive covenants, easements and rights of ways. Any subsequent proposal to vary or extinguish would be subject to specific Council consideration, advertising and then a Scheme amendment to include the details into the Scheme. The



process to vary or extinguish is subject to extensive consultation and consideration by Council and ultimately the WAPC and the Minister for Planning. Therefore, adequate checks are included within the process to ensure that only suitable restrictive covenants, easements and rights of ways are varied or extinguished.

Conclusion

The proposed Scheme amendment will ensure that appropriate clauses are incorporated into the Scheme which enables the extinguishment or variation of any restrictive covenant, easement or right of way, consistent with the intention of Clause 11(1) of Schedule 7 of *Planning and Development Act 2005*.

It is recommended that Scheme Amendment No. 78 be adopted by Council, and forwarded to the WA Planning Commission for final approval.

Strategic Plan/Policy Implications

Governance Excellence

- To conduct Council business in open public forums and to manage Council affairs by employing publicly accountable practices.
- To provide effective monitoring and regulatory services that administer relevant legislation and local laws in a fair and impartial way.

Budget/Financial Implications

N/A

Legal Implications

Planning and Development Act 2005
City of Cockburn Town Planning Scheme No. 2
Town Planning Regulations 1967

Community Consultation

Following receipt of advice from the EPA, the amendment was advertised for a 42 day period. This concluded on the 4 June 2010 and the Scheme amendment attracted no submissions.

Attachment(s)

N/A

20

Advice to Proponent(s)/Submissioners

N/A

Implications of Section 3.18(3) Local Government Act, 1995

Nil.

14.3 (MINUTE NO 4308) (OCM 08/07/2010) - CONSIDERATION OF IMLAH COURT TRAFFIC STUDY - OWNER: N/A - APPLICANT: CITY OF COCKBURN (93027) (M CARBONE) (ATTACH)

RECOMMENDATION

That Council:

- (1) undertake community consultation in relation to the proposed location of the road treatments to Imlah Court and The Lakes Boulevard, in accordance with Agenda Attachments 2 and 3 and review the street lighting in conjunction with the road treatments to ensure the provision of adequate illumination; and
- (2) provided no significant objection is received, program the works for completion in the 2010/11 financial year.

COUNCIL DECISION

MOVED CIr S Limbert SECONDED CIr C Reeve-Fowkes that the recommendation be adopted.

CARRIED 8/0

Background

Council approved Scheme Amendment No. 27 in December 2008 which involved increasing the residential density along the southern side of Imlah Court. As part of the final consideration of the amendment, Council also resolved that:

"The City's Strategic Planning Department engage Engineering consultants to explore the opportunity of treating Imlah Court and The Lakes Boulevard to effectively restrict large trucks using these roads as a short cut and the City's officers reporting back to Council."

Following the advertising of a project brief, the City engaged Porter Consulting Engineers to undertake the traffic study in November 2009.



The traffic study was recently completed and the recommendations of this study are the subject of this report.

Submission

N/A

Report

The following is a summary of the key findings and recommendations of the Imlah Court Traffic Study:

- The function of Imlah Court is to provide local traffic access to the abutting properties which are mainly residential.
- The recorded traffic volume exceed standard rates for anticipated trips generated by abutting development, suggesting externally generated traffic movements are travelling through this street.
- Recorded weekday truck movements occurring on this street exceed the anticipated normal volume and class of truck for a residential local access street.
- The results of the investigation indicate that Imlah Court is subject to additional traffic and classes of vehicles not consistent with the expected normal function of the road. Accordingly, traffic management is recommended to deter unwarranted traffic movements.
- The most effective traffic management is that which presents a high level of visual impact to motorists and with the intention of providing a high level of comprehension on the function of the street environment. Hence permitting motorists to make early decisions on whether their intended travel route coincides with the function of the street about to be entered and if the geometry of the street can accommodate their vehicle passage.
- Introduction of "entry statements" raised plateaus at each intersection before vehicles enter the street offers visual advice and deterrent. The inclusion of highly visible mid-block treatments and a restricted carriageway gives a high level of reinforcement to motorist that the street does not offer a standard unrestricted road environment.
- For these reasons, the most effective traffic management improvements will be achieved using treatments which provide the highest level of visual impact and early advice to approaching motorists. Accordingly the treatments within Agenda Attachments 2 and 3 are recommended.

• It is important that any change in the road environment must be able to be readily discerned by motorists under all conditions. It is of particular importance that during darkness any sudden change in the road alignment created by a traffic device is able to be seen in adequate time for the motorist to safely react to the change in road geometry. Accordingly, it is recommended that street lighting be reviewed in conjunction with design of the road treatments to ensure the provision of adequate illumination.

The City's Engineering Department has confirmed that the treatments within Agenda Attachments 2 and 3 are acceptable. The specific details of these treatments are described following:

- a raised plateau entry statement at the intersection of Imlah Court and Prinsep Road to deter entry from Prinsep Road. The proposed treatment to include kerbing and tightening of corner radii and a traffic island on Imlah Court to inhibit turning entry for larger vehicles;
- a raised plateau entry statement on The Lakes Boulevard immediately south of the left slip lane off Berrigan Drive;
- kerb carriageway at 7m width; and
- construct two 'oval slow points' at approximately 80m separation along Imlah Court.

The traffic management treatments included within Agenda Attachments 2 and 3 are considered appropriate to restrict large trucks using Imlah Court and The Lakes Boulevard as through roads. It is therefore recommended that the City's Engineering Department undertake the necessary community consultation for the road treatments, and review the street lighting in conjunction with the road treatments to ensure the provision of adequate illumination.

Strategic Plan/Policy Implications

Demographic Planning

 To ensure development will enhance the levels of amenity currently enjoyed by the community.

Transport Optimisation

- To ensure the City develops a transport network that provides maximum utility for its users, while minimizing environmental and social impacts.
- To construct and maintain roads which are convenient and safe for vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians.



Budget/Financial Implications

\$49,000 has been carried forward to the 2010/2011 financial year to undertake the traffic calming treatments to Imlah Court and The Lakes Boulevard.

Legal Implications

Planning and Development Act 2005
City of Cockburn Town Planning Scheme No. 2
Town Planning Regulations 1967

Community Consultation

The City's Engineering department will undertake community consultation on the proposed location of the road treatments.

Attachment(s)

- Location Map
- 2. Recommended Modifications Map 1
- 3. Recommended Modifications Map 2
- 4. Engineering Detail for Traffic Medium

Advice to Proponent(s)/Submissioners

N/A

Implications of Section 3.18(3) Local Government Act, 1995

Nil.

14.4 (MINUTE NO 4309) (OCM 08/07/2010) - PROPOSED SCHEME AMENDMENT NO. 85 TO CITY OF COCKBURN TOWN PLANNING SCHEME NO. 3 AND MODIFICATION TO THE LOCAL COMMERCIAL STRATEGY - OWNER: VARIOUS - APPLICANT: PLANNING SOLUTIONS (93085) (M CARBONE, A TROSIC) (ATTACH)

RECOMMENDATION

That Council:

(1) in accordance with Regulation 12C(1) of the *Town Planning Regulations* 1967, resolve to amend the City's Local Commercial Strategy through deleting the requirement relating to restricting the number of supermarkets within the Phoenix Park District Centre, and remodelling the retail viability of surrounding centres. The cost of this remodelling is to be borne by the proponent for this matter;

- subject to the remodelling of the City's Local Commercial Strategy indicating that the retail viability of surrounding centres will not be adversely affected, refer the proposed amendment to the Local Commercial Strategy to the Western Australian Planning Commission ("WAPC") for approval to advertise in accordance with Regulation 12B(1) of the Town Planning Regulations 1967;
- (3) upon approval by the Western Australian Planning Commission to advertise the amendment to the Local Commercial Strategy, pursuant to Section 75 of the Planning and Development Act 2005 ("Act"), initiate an amendment to City of Cockburn Town Planning Scheme No. 3 ("Scheme") for the purposes of:
 - (i) Deleting 'Restricted Use 11' from Schedule 3 of the Scheme Text; and
 - (ii) Amending the Scheme Map accordingly;
- (4) upon receipt of the necessary amendment documentation refer the amendment to the WAPC with a request that it consider giving its consent for the amendment to be advertised for public comment (as the amendment is not entirely consistent with Regulation 25(2) of the Town Planning Regulations 1967 ("Regulations"));
- (5) subject to the consent of the WAPC being received to advertise the Scheme amendment, refer the amendment to the Environmental Protection Authority ("EPA") as required by Section 81 of the Act, and on receipt of a response from the EPA indicating that the amendment is not subject to formal environmental assessment, advertise the Scheme amendment for a period of 42 days in accordance with the Regulations. In the event that the EPA determines that the amendment is to be subject to formal environmental assessment, this assessment is to be prepared by the proponent prior to advertising of the amendment; and
- (6) prepare the amendment documentation in accordance with the standard format prescribed by the Regulations.

COUNCIL DECISION

MOVED CIr S Limbert SECONDED CIr C Reeve-Fowkes that the recommendation be adopted.

CARRIED 8/0



Background

The City of Cockburn's Local Commercial Strategy ("LCS") was approved by Council in November 2002. A key recommendation of this was that the retail floor place for the Phoenix Park District Centre be increased from 19,900 to 28,000 m² net lettable area on the proviso that the additional floor space be for non-food related uses. The LCS specifically stated:

"Under no circumstances should an additional supermarket be developed at Phoenix Park, as this would certainly undermine the potential viability of several important neighbourhood/local centres. Controlling this aspect of any expansion at Phoenix Park could be achieved through the town planning scheme Restricted Use provisions."

It is noted that the Phoenix Park District Centre refers to the land between Coleville Crescent and Spearwood Avenue on the east side of Rockingham Road - not just the Phoenix Shopping Centre.

Amendment No. 11 to City of Cockburn Town Planning Scheme No. 3 ("Scheme") was initiated in July 2003 and later gazetted on 2 December 2005 to introduce the above requirements into the Scheme. This involved the introduction of Restricted Use 11 ("RU11") into Schedule 3 of the Scheme, which limited the number of supermarkets within the Phoenix Park District Centre to no more than two supermarkets. This was consistent with the recommendation of the LCS.

Planning Solutions on behalf of the landowner of Unit 5/218 Rockingham Road, Spearwood lodged a development application for a 636 m² supermarket in January 2010. The application was cancelled in April 2010 as it could not be supported due to the existence of RU11 provisions of the Scheme, as there were already two supermarkets within the Phoenix Park District Centre. The purpose of this report is to consider an amendment to the Scheme and LCS to effectively remove this supermarket restriction.

Submission

Planning Solutions on behalf of Mayport Nominees Pty Ltd, the landowner of 218 (Strata Lots 3, 5 and 6) Rockingham Road, Spearwood have lodged a Scheme amendment proposal to delete RU11 from Schedule 3 of the Scheme.

Report

In respect to the Phoenix Park District Centre, the City's LCS recommends that there be no more than two supermarkets, on the basis that any more would undermine the potential viability of several important surrounding neighbourhood and local centres. This restriction was formalised through RU11 being introduced into the Scheme as part of Amendment No. 11 in 2005.

The details of RU11 are as follows:

No.	Description of land	Restricted Use	Conditions
RU 11		,	Planning Approval.

A development application to use the existing building at 5/218 Rockingham Road, Spearwood as a supermarket was recently cancelled as it did not comply with the above provisions as two supermarkets already exist within the Phoenix Park District Centre (Coles and Woolworths).

Planning Solutions on behalf of the landowner have now lodged a scheme amendment proposal to delete RU11 from the scheme - effectively removing this restriction.

The following is a summary of the justification provided by the proponent:

- The Western Australian Planning Commission State Planning Policy No. 4.2 (Metropolitan Centres Policy Statement for the Perth Metropolitan Region) ("SPP4.2") and the new Draft Activity Centres State Planning Policy ("Draft SPP") identify the permissible retail types within District Centres which includes supermarkets. Restricting the number of supermarkets to two within a District Centre does not achieve the highest and best use of the centre which is designed to provide for weekly shopping needs of the community.
- It is noted that the Draft SPP implies a restriction of "a supermarket" to lower tier centres such as Neighbourhood and Local Centres. In

District Centres provide for "supermarkets". contrast, supermarket restriction under the Draft SPP applicable to lower tier centres is valid, however it is noted that such a restriction does not apply to District Centres. Therefore, the existing supermarket restriction should not apply to the District Centre.

- The main reason for restricting the number of supermarkets was due to concerns that additional supermarkets could undermine the viability of the existing neighbourhood/local centres. A site inspection of the two nearest Neighbourhood Centres being Hamilton Hill Plaza and Stargate Shopping Centre indicates that occupancy levels of both centres are high. This suggests the surrounding centres are viable commercial centres and the reason for which the restriction was introduced is no longer relevant.
- Residential densities within approximately 800m of the Phoenix Park District Centre are proposed to be increased to between R30 to R80 as part of Scheme Amendment No. 76 and the Phoenix Central Revitalisation Strategy. This will substantially increase the number of dwellings within the catchment and accordingly increase demand for commercial services and facilities within the District Centre.
- Restricted Use 11 has created a duopoly as only Coles and Woolworths exist within the District Centre and therefore restricts the opportunity for smaller and independent retailers to enter the market. It is considered the restriction reduces competition and is not consistent with the considerations and recommendations of the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission ("ACCC") in relation to anti competitive behaviour. The ACCC produced a report in July 2008 to the Assistant Treasurer and Minister for Competition Policy and Consumer Affairs and one of the recommendations was:

"That all appropriate levels of government consider ways in which zoning and planning laws, and decisions in respect of individual planning applications where additional retail space for the purpose of operating a supermarket is contemplated, should have specific regard to the likely impact of the proposal on competition between supermarkets in the area. Particular regard should be had to whether the proposal would facilitate the entry of a supermarket operator not currently trading in the area."

The justification provided by the proponent is considered to have some planning merit. Of particular note are the following observations:

The City has embarked on the Phoenix Central Revitalisation 1. Strategy, whereby in the future a large amount of urban consolidation and renewal will take place within the 800m catchment of the Phoenix Park District Centre. The recently adopted Scheme Amendment No. 75 represents the first stage of this urban renewal, through the incorporation of significantly higher residential densities in the 800m catchment surrounding the Phoenix Park District Centre;

2. Considering the age of the LCS (developed 2002) and that planning considerations for the Phoenix Area have shifted significantly since then, it is considered that retail shopping demand stemming from the surrounding residential catchment and planned future growth is getting to the point which can sustain a further supermarket. Rather than take consumer patronage from surrounding Neighbourhood Centres, it is considered that an additional supermarket should serve the local catchment which is growing significantly and planned to continually grow into the future.

It should be noted that the catchments of all surrounding centres are expected to continue to increase. This includes the following considerations - Phoenix Central Revitalisation Strategy, the development of the former Watson's factory, Port Coogee development and the development of green field sites in the Munster locality.

Considering the above, it is recommended that Council support the proposed amendment once the LCS has been modified and remodelled to ascertain what impact lifting RU11 will have on the viability of other centres. This will ensure that the modification to the LCS is both tested and remodelled as a precursor to the scheme amendment being prepared for advertising. It is appropriate for the cost of this to be met by the proponent for this matter.

The City has also sought advice from its solicitors relating to whether RU11 is contrary to the Australian Competition Policy and whether it should be removed from the scheme. A copy of this advice is provided as a confidential attachment under separate cover.

Strategic Plan/Policy Implications

Demographic Planning

 To ensure the planning of the City is based on an approach that has the potential to achieve high levels of convenience and prosperity for its citizens.

Employment and Economic Development

 To plan and promote economic development that encourages business opportunities within the City.

Budget/Financial Implications

N/A



Legal Implications

Planning and Development Act 2005
City of Cockburn Town Planning Scheme No. 3
Town Planning Regulations 1967
Local Commercial Strategy

Community Consultation

Consultation for both the modification to the LCS and Scheme amendment will take place in accordance with the requirements of the *Town Planning Regulations 1967*.

Attachment(s)

- 1. Site Plan
- 2. Confidential Advice provided under separate cover.

Advice to Proponent(s)/Submissioners

The applicant has been advised that the matter will be presented to the 8 July 2010 Council meeting.

Implications of Section 3.18(3) Local Government Act, 1995

Nil.

14.5 (MINUTE NO 4310) (OCM 08/07/2010) - ADOPTION OF SCHEME AMENDMENT NO. 80 FOR FINAL APPROVAL - REZONING LOT 9012 WENTWORTH PARADE, SUCCESS FROM 'RESIDENTIAL R20' TO 'RESIDENTIAL R25' - OWNER: GOLD ESTATES OF AUSTRALIA - APPLICANT: ROBERTS DAY (93080) (D DI RENZO) (ATTACH)

RECOMMENDATION

That Council:

- (1) adopt for final approval Amendment No. 80 to City of Cockburn Town Planning Scheme No. 3 ("the Scheme") for the purposes of rezoning portion of Lot 9012 Wentworth Parade, Success from 'Residential R20' to 'Residential R25' as shown on the Scheme Amendment Map; and
- (2) ensure the amendment documentation be signed and sealed without modification and then submitted to the Western Australian Planning Commission along with details of the steps taken to advertise the amendment, with a request for the endorsement of final approval by the Hon. Minister for Planning.

COUNCIL DECISION

MOVED CIr S Limbert SECONDED CIr C Reeve-Fowkes that the recommendation be adopted.

CARRIED 8/0

Background

Council initiated Scheme Amendment No. 80 on 10 December 2009 (Minute No. 4130). This sort to rezone portion of Lot 9012 Wentworth Parade, Success ("subject land") from 'Residential R20' to 'Residential R25' (refer Agenda attachments).

The proposal was subsequently advertised for public comment from 5 April 2010 to 18 May 2010.

Submission

The proposed rezoning has been requested by the proponent, who has submitted Scheme amendment documentation and a subdivision concept plan in support of the proposal.

Report

The subject land is currently zoned 'Residential R20' under City of Cockburn Town Planning Scheme No. 3 ("Scheme"). A scheme amendment has been prepared for a portion of the subject land proposing to rezone it to 'Residential R25'.

The portion of the subject land proposed to be rezoned is 1.06 ha in area, and is bound by Wentworth Parade to the west, 'Primary Regional Roads' reservation to the south and a drainage reserve to the east. The land to the north has been subdivided and developed in accordance with the 'Residential R20' zoning.

The scheme amendment documentation includes a proposed subdivision plan, demonstrating the road and lot layout at a density of R25 (refer Agenda attachments). The proposed subdivision concept indicates an extension of existing Minerva Loop (15m road reserve); with a laneway to provide access to three lots in the south western corner of the subject land adjacent to Wentworth Parade.

The proposed subdivision plan shows the creation of 20 lots that are consistent with the R25 requirement pursuant to the Residential Design Codes of Western Australia ("R-Codes"), including a minimum lot frontage of 8 m, and an average lot size of 416.5 m². This plan



demonstrates that the proposed rezoning will achieve four additional lots than would be possible under the existing R20 coding.

Directions 2031 Draft Spatial Framework for Perth and Peel is a document prepared by the Western Australian Planning Commission ("WAPC") that will set the direction for how the metropolitan region will grow, building on the themes identified in Network City: Community Planning Strategy for Perth and Peel. It seeks to ensure urban growth is managed, and to make the most efficient use of available land and infrastructure, particularly prioritising the development and use of land that is already zoned urban. It seeks to achieve an average of 15 dwellings per zoned hectare, which equates to a residential coding of at least R25 - this is consistent with this proposal.

Liveable Neighbourhoods is an operational WAPC policy for the design and assessment of new development areas, and it seeks to facilitate new development which supports the efficiency of public transport systems where available, and provide safe, direct access to the system for residents. The subject land is located within 500m of a bus stop on Wentworth Parade which directly connects to the Cockburn Central train station. Given the subject land's proximity to public transport, and the objectives of *Directions 2031*, a coding of R25 is considered appropriate in this case.

The existing lots to the north of the subject land that are located adjacent to Wentworth Parade are subject to a Detailed Area Plan ("DAP") (Wentworth Gardens Stage 9B). The purpose of this is to ensure that dwellings face Wentworth Parade with open style pillar and iron fencing, with garages located to the rear and vehicle access from Minerva Loop.

A DAP is proposed for the proposed lots adjacent to Wentworth Parade (seven lots) to ensure they achieve the same orientation, setback and access arrangements to achieve a consistent streetscape. A DAP will also be required for proposed Lot 17 which is an unusual shape, to ensure appropriate location of the garage and fencing.

The proposed rezoning was advertised for public comment, including letters to landowners in the area, and no comments were received.

Conclusion

The proposed rezoning is considered to achieve a more efficient use of urban zoned land, consistent with *Liveable Neighbourhoods*, *Network City*, and *Directions 2031*. It is therefore recommended that Council adopt Scheme Amendment No. 80 for final approval.

Strategic Plan/Policy Implications

Demographic Planning

- To ensure the planning of the City is based on an approach that has the potential to achieve high levels of convenience and prosperity for its citizens.
- To ensure development will enhance the levels of amenity currently enjoyed by the community.

Transport Optimisation

 To achieve provision of an effective public transport system that provides maximum amenity, connectivity and integration for the community.

Budget/Financial Implications

The scheme amendment fees for this proposal have been calculated in accordance with the *Planning and Development Regulations 2009*, including the cost of advertising, which has been paid by the applicant.

Legal Implications

N/A

Community Consultation

Subsequent to the amendment being adopted by Council for community consultation, it was referred to the Environmental Protection Authority ("EPA"), who advised on the 22 March 2010 advising that the proposal is environmentally acceptable. Consultation was then undertaken for a period of 42 days In accordance with the *Town Planning Regulations 1967*, which included letters to adjacent landowners, government agencies and a notice in the newspaper.

Attachment(s)

- 1. Scheme Amendment Map
- 2. Proposed Subdivision Plan
- 3. Aerial Photo

Advice to Proponent(s)/Submissioners

The proponent has been advised that this matter is to be considered at the 8 July 2010 Council Meeting.

Implications of Section 3.18(3) Local Government Act, 1995

Nil.

14.6 (MINUTE NO 4311) (OCM 08/07/2010) - CONSIDERATION OF DRAFT CITY OF COCKBURN LOCAL GOVERNMENT INVENTORY REVIEW; PROPOSED SCHEME AMENDMENT NO. 86 AND; PREPARATION OF DRAFT LOCAL PLANNING POLICY (HERITAGE CONSERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES) - APPLICANT: CITY OF COCKBURN - OWNER: VARIOUS (93086) (D DI RENZO) (ATTACH)

RECOMMENDATION

That Council:

- (1) adopt the Draft Local Government Inventory ("Draft LGI") for the purposes of community consultation;
- (2) adopt the Draft Heritage List for the purposes of community consultation;
- (3)in pursuance of Section 75 of the Planning and Development Act 2005 ("Act"), initiate an amendment to City of Cockburn Town Planning Scheme No. 3 ("Scheme") for the purposes of:
 - Modifying Clause 10.2.1(h) as follows: 1.
 - (h) the conservation of any place that has been entered in the Register within the meaning of the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990, or which is included in the Heritage List under clause 7.1, and the effect of the proposal on the character or appearance of a heritage area:
 - Replacing the words 'Municipal Inventory' in Clause 7.1.2(a) and 7.1.2(b) with 'Local Government Inventory'.
 - Modifying Schedule 1 (General Definitions) by replacing the term 'Municipal Inventory' with 'Local Government Inventory', with the definition to remain unchanged.
 - 4. Modifying Clause 8.2.1(b) by including an additional subclause as follows:
 - (iv) the proposal is located on a place that is included on the Heritage List;
 - Modifying Clause 8.2.1(c) by including an additional subclause as follows:
 - (vi) included on the Local Government Inventory;
 - Including a new Cause 7.6 as follows:

'Planning approval is required prior to the removal, destruction of and/or interference with any tree included on the Local Government Inventory Significant Tree list;'

- (4) prepare the amendment documentation in accordance with the standard format prescribed by the *Town Planning Regulations* 1967 ("Regulations");
- (5) note as the amendment is in the opinion of Council consistent with Regulation 25(2), and upon preparation of the necessary amendment documentation, the amendment be referred to the Environmental Protection Authority ("EPA") as required by Section 81 of the Act, and on receipt of a response from the EPA indicating that the amendment is not subject to formal environmental assessment, be advertised for a period of 42 days in accordance with the Regulations;
- in pursuance of Clause 2.3.1 of the Scheme, resolves to prepare a Local Planning Policy (Heritage Conservation Design Guidelines);
- (7) publishes notice of the proposed Policy in accordance with Clause 2.5.1(a) of the Scheme. Furthermore, in accordance with Clause 2.5.1(b) of the Scheme, Council publishes notice of the proposed Policy as part of the advertising of the amendment and LGI and Heritage List;
- (8) arrange for the preparation of the documentation to nominate the South Fremantle Power Station for inclusion on the State Register of Heritage Places pursuant to the *Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990*; and
- (9) arrange for the preparation of the documentation to nominate the Hamilton Hill Memorial Hall for inclusion on the State Register of Heritage Places pursuant to the *Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990*.

COUNCIL DECISION

MOVED CIr V Oliver SECONDED CIr S Limbert that Council adopt the recommendation with the following amendments:

- (1) adopt the draft Local Government Inventory ("draft LGI") for the purposes of community consultation, subject to the removal of the listing for the South Fremantle Power Station (Entry #75);
- (2) adopt the draft Heritage List for the purposes of community consultation, subject to the removal of the listing for the South Fremantle Power Station (Entry #75);

- (3) to (7) as recommended;
- (8) delete; and
- (9) adopt the Officer's recommendation (9) and renumber it accordingly.

CARRIED 7/1

NOTE: MAYOR HOWLETT REQUESTED THAT HIS VOTE AGAINST THIS MOTION BE RECORDED.

Reason for Decision

As the South Fremantle Power Station is already interim listed on the State Register of Heritage Places there is no need for Council to nominate it for inclusion on the State Register and therefore it is recommended that this requirement be deleted.

The South Fremantle Power Station has, over the years, become an eye sore on our beautiful coast and the building is deteriorating fast. With the development of the land north and south of this building planned in future years we need a fantastic, forward thinking plan for the redevelopment of these premises. Unfortunately it is very unlikely that this will take place in the near future because of the cost of the redevelopment of the power station. By Council making this first move it will leave scope for the owners, Verve Energy, to apply to Parliament to re-assess the State Heritage listing if they so wish.

Background

Requirements for Local Government Inventories and Heritage Lists

The identification, conservation and protection of places and areas of State heritage significance are provided for in the *Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990*. This provides for the compilation of the state heritage register by the Heritage Council of Western Australia ("Heritage Council") and the Heritage Minister.

The identification of places and areas of local heritage significance is provided for in the *Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990*, which requires all local governments to identify heritage places in local government inventories ("LGI").

The key purpose of a LGI is to:

- * identify the places and areas that are, in the opinion of the local government, of cultural heritage significance for the local area;
- * assist in determining local government conservation policies;
- * provide a cultural and historic record of the local government district;
- * assist with the preparation of the heritage list under a town planning scheme; and
- * assist in achieving the heritage conservation objectives of town planning in the State.

Under City of Cockburn Town Planning Scheme No. 3 ("Scheme") there is also a requirement to adopt a Heritage List, and the Scheme sets out the process for adopting or modifying a Heritage List (Clause 7.1.3).

In compiling the Heritage List, consideration must be given to the LGI, and the Heritage List generally represents the most important heritage places.

The LGI itself does not have statutory force and effect in terms of planning controls, therefore the purpose of including the most important heritage places on the Heritage List is so they are protected under the Scheme. These places are then protected through the requirement for planning approval prior to any works being undertaken.

In addition, under the Scheme there is discretion to vary site or development requirements specified in the Scheme, or *Residential Design Codes of Western Australia* ("R-Codes") to facilitate the conservation of places on the Heritage List. This means that the Scheme provides the possibility for incentives to be offered, which may take the form of relaxation of one or more planning requirement that would normally apply under the Scheme or the R-Codes, where it would not compromise orderly and proper planning.

City of Cockburn Municipal Inventory/Local Government Inventory

The City of Cockburn's first Municipal Inventory ("MI") was adopted in 1998 after an extensive community consultation process that resulted in the inclusion of 63 places of cultural heritage significance. Of these 63 places 58 places were also identified for inclusion on the Heritage List pursuant to the Scheme (Town Planning Scheme No. 2, which is now superseded).

The MI was subsequently reviewed and adopted on 20 April 2004 (Item 14.18), and 35 new places were added in a second volume (i.e. with Volume 1 being the 1998 MI). There were no additional places identified for inclusion on the Heritage List as part of this review.



In 2009 the City engaged a Heritage Consultant, Eddie Marcus, to review the MI (Volumes 1 and 2) and the Heritage List. This included a review of all existing places, and identification of new places of cultural heritage significance to form a Draft LGI and Heritage List for the purposes of community consultation.

Submission

N/A

Report

The purpose of this report is for Council to consider adopting the following for community consultation:

- * Draft LGI;
- * Draft Heritage List;
- * Draft Local Planning Policy (Heritage Conservation);
- * Scheme Amendment No. 85 (Scheme text amendments relating to heritage).

The purpose of these proposals is to provide a framework for the protection of places with heritage significance within the City of Cockburn.

Each of these proposals is discussed separately in detail below.

<u>Draft Local Government Inventory</u>

The Draft LGI has been prepared by Heritage Consultant, Eddie Marcus, and is included in the Agenda attachments. The review and compilation of the Draft LGI has involved the following key steps:

- 1. Review of all existing places on the MI and updating each place record as required.
- 2. Identifying new places of cultural heritage significance for inclusion on the Draft LGI.
- 3. Review of existing Heritage List and compilation of a new proposed Heritage List from the reviewed LGI.

The compilation of the Draft LGI has been undertaken in accordance with assessment criteria set out in the 'Criteria for the Assessment of Local Heritage Places and Areas' published by the Heritage Council. The following assessment criteria are used in this process:

- * Aesthetic value
- Historic value
- * Research value
- Social value



- * Rarity
- * Representativeness
- Condition, Integrity and Authenticity

Through this process each place on the Draft LGI has been allocated an assigned management category, which provides an indication of the level of significance of the place, as follows:

- A Exceptional significance
- B Considerable significance
- C Significant
- D Some Significance
- T Significant Tree

The Draft LGI includes a total of 106 places, and 8 of these are new places that are not included in the current MI.

Draft Heritage List

The Heritage Consultant has recommended that all places identified as Management Category A and B be included on the Draft Heritage List because these are the places with the highest heritage significance (refer Agenda attachments). This means that of the 106 places on the Draft LGI, 40 places are also identified for inclusion on the Heritage List pursuant to the scheme. This represents a reduction in the number of places on the Heritage List than is currently identified (58 places) because the MI that was adopted in 1998 effectively identified all places for inclusion on the Heritage List, with the exception of Management Category E places (places with little or no remaining physical features - no longer proposed to be a category in the Draft LGI).

Of the places that are currently identified as being on the Heritage List, there are 18 that are no longer proposed to be included on the Heritage List however they will remain on the LGI. These places are outlined in the Agenda attachments with the specific reason(s) why they are not proposed to be included on the Heritage List. In many cases this is because of the proposed management category that has been assigned to the place (i.e. they have been identified as a Management Category C or D place).

There are seven new places proposed to be included on the Heritage List, and these are outlined in the Agenda attachments, including the reason(s) for their proposed inclusion, which effectively relates to the fact that they have been identified as a Management Category A or B place.

The proposed Heritage List is considered to represent a more refined list of places with the greatest cultural heritage significance which is considered important given that the Scheme requires planning

approval prior to even minor works being undertaken to places on the Heritage List. This includes works such as the replacement of gutters or downpipes. The purpose of this requirement is to ensure that such works are undertaken in a sensitive manner, in a way that does not compromise the heritage significance of the place. However, this requirement is considered onerous in cases where places are of lesser significance, and where the intention of including them on the Heritage List was only to provide the opportunity for an archival record (i.e. a historical record of a place including photographs and plans). Therefore it is considered prudent to ensure that planning approval is not being required unnecessarily.

One of the main reasons that the original MI proposed the inclusion of Management Category A - D places was to enable the opportunity for an archival record to be prepared for those places with less significance. The revised Heritage List is smaller; however the proposed changes to the scheme provisions will mean that planning approval is required prior to the demolition of all places on the LGI. The intention of this is to provide the opportunity for an archival record without imposing the burden of requiring development approval for all works (discussed in detail in the next section).

Proposed Scheme Amendment No. 86

A Scheme amendment is proposed to modify some of the provisions related to heritage, and these changes are outlined in detail below.

1. Requirements for Planning Approval

There are some modifications proposed to the Scheme text that have implications for the types of development that will require planning approval.

Clause 8.2 of the Scheme sets out the types of development that is exempt from planning approval. Currently works that affect only the interior of a building and which do not materially affect the external appearance of the building are exempt from planning approval, except where the building is included on the State Register, or on the Heritage List under the Scheme.

The erection of a single house, including any extension, ancillary outbuildings and swimming pools is also exempt, except where the development will be located in a Heritage Area designed under the Scheme. It should be noted that the City has no existing Heritage Areas, nor are any proposed as part of this review. It is proposed that Clause 8.2.1(b) of the Scheme be modified to also require planning approval for the erection of a single house, including any extension, ancillary outbuildings and swimming pools where a place is included on the Heritage List. It is considered that the current exclusion of this

requirement is an oversight, given that the current provisions require development approval for internal works for places on the Heritage List.

The Draft Policy provides more design guidance regarding the types of development that may be acceptable to assist landowners and Council in the assessment of applications (discussed in further detail later in this report).

Proposals for works to places included on the State Register of Heritage Places require planning approval, and pursuant to the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990 the advice of the Heritage Council is required prior to a decision being made.

2. Demolition

Currently the demolition of any building or structure is exempt from planning approval except where it is located on the State Heritage Register; where it is the subject of a Conservation Order under Part 6 of the *Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990*; or where it is included on the Heritage List; or located in a Heritage Area.

It is proposed to include an additional clause to also require development approval for the demolition of all places that are included on the LGI. This will facilitate the opportunity to require an archival record prior to demolition of a Management Category C or D place that is included on the LGI but not on the Heritage List. If this is not required there is no mechanism through the demolition licence process for an archival record to be required.

The Draft Policy provides further guidance regarding when demolition proposals will be supported (discussed later in this report).

3. Significant Trees

The Draft LGI includes a number of significant trees, many of which are already included on the current MI (identified in the original MI and the subsequent 2004 review). The list of significant trees is included in the Agenda attachments.

The significant trees that were identified in the original MI (1998) were also identified for inclusion on the Heritage List. It is clear that the intention of including these trees on the Heritage List was to protect them, however, the provisions in the scheme that protect Heritage Places specifically relate to buildings and structures. For example, the provisions of the Scheme [Clause 8.2.1(c)] that require planning approval prior to demolition of a place on the Heritage List specify that this is required for demolition of a building or structure. These provisions are not considered to provide any protection to trees, and there are no other provisions in the Scheme that protect trees that are



on the Heritage List or LGI (or MI as it is currently referred to in the Scheme).

The trees that were identified in the 2004 MI review have been allocated specific management recommendations, and while they were not identified for inclusion on the Heritage List in certain circumstances where the tree is located on private property, the current MI specifies that inclusion of the tree on the MI affords it a level of protection. However, there is currently no mechanism to implement or enforce the management recommendations that are outlined in the place records.

In order to provide some level of protection to the significant trees, and to clarify the requirements relating to significant trees it is recommended that an additional clause be included in the scheme to require planning approval prior to the removal of any significant tree identified on the LGI.

It is considered that the proposed Amendment will provide an improved framework for the identification and protection of significant trees.

It should be noted that the majority of the significant trees that have been included on the Draft LGI are located on public land, such as street verges or Council reserves. There are only three significant trees included on the Draft LGI that are located on private property (wholly or partially), namely the following:

- Four Norfolk Pine Trees 104 Forrest Road, Hamilton Hill.
- Moreton Bay Fig Tree 110 Rockingham Road, Hamilton Hill (Hamilton Hill School).
- Norfolk Pine Trees 300 Hamilton Road, Spearwood.

These three trees located on private property are already included in the current MI, and were all identified for inclusion on the Heritage List. Notwithstanding, all landowners who are affected by the significant trees will be consulted during the advertising of the Draft LGI, Heritage List, Scheme Amendment and Draft Policy.

The Draft Policy provides further guidance for works that are proposed for significant trees, discussed later in this report.

4. Minor Modifications

The following minor Scheme text changes are proposed:

- Updating all references to the 'Municipal Inventory' with the term 'Local Government Inventory', consistent with the new terminology in the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990.
- Correction to the wording of clause 10.2.1(h) to reflect the Model Scheme Text ("MST"), which does not affect the operation or intent of the clause.

<u>Draft Local Planning Policy (Heritage Conservation)</u>

The City does not currently have a local planning policy covering heritage matters, and currently relies on *State Planning Policy 3.5 Historic Heritage* ("SPP 3.5"). While SPP 3.5 broadly covers development control principles for heritage places it is considered that further guidance and direction would be of benefit to Council and landowners.

The Policy will provide further guidance for landowners regarding the types of works that will be acceptable.

Clause 10.2.1(h) of the Scheme identifies that in considering applications for planning approval the local government must have due regard to the conservation of any place on the State Register or Heritage List. However, there is no further guidance regarding this matter, given that the heritage provisions of the Scheme (set out in Part 7), primarily relate to the procedural matters for heritage places, rather than principles or guidelines for actual development proposals. These do not offer any guidance for landowners of heritage places, nor for the Council in assessing proposals for development.

In preparing the Draft Policy, consideration has been given to the Heritage Council's *Guidelines for Local Planning Policies*; SPP 3.5; and the principles of the Burra Charter for the conservation of places of cultural heritage significance [Australian International Council on Monuments and Sites (ICOMOS)], which has been generally accepted as the standard for heritage practitioners in Australia.

The Draft Policy is included in the Agenda attachments, and an overview of the content of the Draft Policy is provided below. It should be noted that the Draft Policy reflects the proposed changes outlined in the Scheme Amendment.

1. External Alterations and Extensions

Proposed alterations and extensions to places on the Heritage List require planning approval, and the Draft Policy sets out design guidelines in this regard.

These policy provisions are underpinned by the following key principles of the *Burra Charter*, and SPP 3.5:

- * New development should not mimic the old, and should be distinguishable from the original.
- * Changes to a place should be based on respect for the existing fabric, requiring a cautious approach of changing as much as necessary but as little as possible.



* New work should not obscure or detract from the heritage significance of a place.

Internal Alterations

The Draft Policy sets out that alteration to the interior of a heritage place to suit a current and compatible use will be supported where the proposal does not compromise the heritage significance of the place.

3. Change of Use

The *Burra Charter* sets out that a place should have a compatible use, and the Draft Policy proposes that adaptive reuse of heritage places may be supported provided that the proposed use(s) will not impact negatively on the amenity of the surrounding area; that any required modifications do not substantially detract from the heritage significance of the place; and that it is consistent with the Scheme and other relevant Council policies.

4. New Buildings/Structures

New buildings, structures and other features that are located within the curtilage of a heritage place have the potential to impact on the heritage significance by affecting the setting of the place. Therefore the Draft Policy sets out guidelines for such proposals, which primarily seek to ensure that proposals for new buildings or structures do not detract from the setting or heritage significance of a place.

These proposed policy provisions are consistent with the principles of the Burra Charter which specifies that conservation requires the retention of an appropriate setting for a place, and that new construction, intrusions or other changes should not adversely affect the setting of a place.

5. Demolition

One of the important functions of the Draft Policy is to set out policy provisions for proposed demolition of heritage places, which are proposed to vary depending on the heritage significance of the place.

In this regard the Draft Policy sets out the following:

Places on the Heritage List (Management Category A and B Places) - Demolition of places on the Heritage List (i.e. Management Category A and B places) will not generally be supported.

Consideration of a demolition proposal will be based on the following:

* The significance of the place;

- * The feasibility of restoring or adapting it, or incorporating it into new development;
- * The extent to which the community would benefit from the proposed redevelopment.

This position is considered to be consistent with SPP 3.5, which stipulates that demolition of a State heritage place is rarely appropriate and should require the strongest justification; and demolition of a local heritage place should be avoided wherever possible, although there will be circumstances where demolition is justified. SPP 3.5 specifies that the onus rests with the applicant to provide a clear justification for demolition.

Therefore the Draft Policy sets out that where structural failure is cited as justification for demolition the onus rests with the applicant to provide a clear justification for demolition, and evidence should be provided from a registered structural engineer that the structural integrity of the building has failed to the point where it cannot be rectified without the removal of a majority of its significant fabric and/or prohibitive costs.

The Draft Policy sets out that partial demolition of a building on the Heritage List may be supported where the part(s) to be demolished do not contribute to the cultural heritage significance of the place, and sufficient fabric is retained to ensure structural integrity during and after development works.

In circumstances where demolition of a place on the Heritage List is considered appropriate an archival record will be required as a condition of development approval, and the archival record should be prepared in accordance with the Heritage Council's guidelines.

Where full or partial demolition is supported this may be subject to appropriate interpretation to acknowledge the cultural heritage significance of the heritage place.

Places on the LGI (Management Category C and D)

While the retention of any place on the LGI will always be encouraged, generally proposals for demolition of a Management Category C and D place will be acceptable; however, an archival record would be required prior to demolition.

6. Relocation

The *Burra Charter* outlines that the location of a heritage place is part of its cultural significance, and that relocation of a place is generally unacceptable unless this is the sole practical means of ensuring its survival, or it was designed to be transportable.



The Draft Policy is proposed to reflect this principle, and states that the relocation of a building or other component of a heritage place is generally unacceptable.

7. Significant Trees

The proposed Scheme Amendment proposes to require planning approval prior to the removal of a significant tree identified on the LGI. As previously outlined, only three of the significant trees proposed for inclusion on the LGI are located on private property.

The Draft Policy proposes to include some provisions to outline the type of works that may be acceptable.

For example, significant trees may be pruned as part of routine maintenance in accordance with the International Society of Arboriculture standards, provided the pruning would not reduce the tree's height or crown or diameter, alter the trees general appearance, increase the tree's susceptibility to insects or disease, or otherwise increase its risk of mortality.

The Draft Policy sets out that the removal of significant trees will only be supported where it is necessary to protect public safety or private or public property from imminent danger, and the onus is on the applicant to demonstrate that this is the case. This may require the submission of a report prepared by a suitably qualified arborist.

Proposals for substantial pruning to a significant tree may require the submission of an arborist report prepared by a suitably qualified consultant demonstrating that the proposal is acceptable.

8. Minor Works, Repairs, and Restoration

Pursuant to the Scheme, all development affecting a place on the Heritage List requires development approval. This includes minor works such as replacement of roofing, gutters, downpipes. The purpose of this requirement is to ensure that these works do not have a negative impact on the heritage significance of the place, and accordingly the following policy provisions apply:

The Draft Policy provides further guidance regarding what constitutes minor works and routine maintenance to assist landowners.

It also outlines guidelines for undertaking minor works, such as replacing materials "like for like", matching the original as closely as possible with regard to the materials, colours, and textures.

9. Structure Plans and Subdivision Proposals

Proposals for the subdivision of land that contains a heritage place(s) have the potential to impact on the heritage significance of the place, in particular by impacting on the setting. The Draft Policy proposes that subdivision proposals for heritage places should be designed to retain an appropriate setting for heritage buildings, and this includes the retention of original garden areas, landscaping features or other features that are considered essential to the setting of the heritage place or its heritage significance.

Consideration should also be given to how future development of the subdivided land is likely to affect the identified significance of the heritage place. It is also important to note that under the Scheme discretion exists to vary provisions of the Scheme or the Residential Design Codes ("R-Codes")

The Draft Policy also proposes that subdivision proposals which indicate the required demolition, partial demolition or modification to a place on the Heritage List or State Register of heritage places will not be supported without a Heritage Impact Statement accompanying the subdivision proposal. A Heritage Impact Statement sets out how the proposal will affect the significance of the place; what alternatives have been considered to ameliorate any adverse impacts; and how the proposal will result in any heritage conservation benefits that may offset any adverse impacts. This is to be prepared by a heritage professional and in accordance with the Heritage Council's guidelines.

While the Western Australian Planning Commission ("WAPC") is the decision-making authority for subdivisions, it is proposed that the Draft Policy will be used to guide the City's recommendations to the WAPC.

For proposed structure plans that incorporate heritage places the Draft Policy sets out that they should demonstrate how matters of heritage significance will be addressed. In some cases where a number of places are included an overall heritage may be required as part of the structure plan report, demonstrating how heritage issues will be addressed, including recommendations for interpretation.

10. Proposed Requirements for Archival Recording

Throughout the Draft Policy where there is reference to the requirement of an archival record this is required to be in accordance with the 'Standard form (for places not included on the State Register) for the Archival Recording of Heritage Places', produced by the Heritage Council.

This sets out the requirements for archival records, and it is proposed that this standard form and brief be used for all archival records. This will ensure consistency in the format and content of all archival records.



The amount of supporting information that is required for the archival record depends on the Management Category, but it generally includes photographs of all elevations of the heritage building(s) or structures, internal rooms and features, and a sketch standard site plan, floor plan and elevation (to scale).

Proposed Nominations for State Register

Heritage places that are identified as Management Category A on the LGI are those of 'exceptional significance', and they are defined in the Draft LGI as:

'Essential to the heritage of the locality. Rare or outstanding example. The places should be retained and conserved unless there is no feasible and prudent alternative to doing otherwise.'

All of the places that are identified as Management Category A in the Draft LGI (and also in the current MI) are included on the State Register with the exception of the Hamilton Hill Memorial Hall (Place No. 35) and the South Fremantle Power Station (Place No. 75).

The South Fremantle Power Station and Hamilton Hill Memorial Hall are included on the current MI, nominated as a Management Category A places. The Draft LGI proposes that these places also be included on the Heritage List, given that all Management Category A and B places are proposed to be included on the Heritage List.

Given their exceptional significance, it is recommended that both of these places be nominated for inclusion on the State Register of Heritage places. Places included on the State Register are protected under the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990.

Under the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990 any person or agency can nominate a place for inclusion on the State Register.

1. Memorial Hall (Place No. 35)

Memorial Hall is located at 435 Carrington Street, Hamilton Hill, and is owned by the City of Cockburn.

Memorial Hall was constructed in 1925 in memory of the fallen and returned soldiers of WWI. It has extremely high historical, cultural and aesthetic significance as a prominent landmark, which has been sensitively restored. Its cultural heritage significance is detailed in the place record of the Draft LGI (refer Agenda attachments). The Heritage consultant has recommended its inclusion the State Register of Heritage Places.

It is therefore recommended that the City of Cockburn nominate the place for inclusion on the State Register, and that Council direct staff to prepare the required heritage nomination form and submit it to the Heritage Council for consideration.

2. South Fremantle Power Station (Place No. 75)

South Fremantle Power Station is a former coal-fired electric power generating installation that was constructed in 1951, and it was the second and largest purpose-built thermal power station in Western Australia. It is owned by Verve Energy.

The surviving main building (now stripped of all plant) remains aesthetically significant; the building demonstrates the strong expression of a structure specifically designed for an industrial process.

The South Fremantle Power Station was previously included on the Interim Register of Heritage Places (25/10/1997), which has lapsed in recent years subsequent to the land changing ownership (to Verve Energy). This lapsing is a legal issue that does not relate to the cultural heritage significance of the place, which is still considered to be very high.

The South Fremantle Power Station is located within the Cockburn Coast District Structure Plan ("District Structure Plan") area, which was adopted by the WAPC in August 2009. The District Structure Plan outlines that it is considered appropriate to secure the heritage values of the place into the future. It outlines that the South Fremantle Power Station is a significant component of the District Structure Plan owing to its physical dominance and uniqueness, and it identifies that the power station will become the landmark feature of the town centre. It specifies that - "Retention of the power station is therefore of critical importance".

Therefore, in light of the endorsed District Structure Plan, and the exceptional heritage significance of the South Fremantle Power Station, as identified in both the existing MI and Draft LGI it is recommended that the City of Cockburn nominate the place again for inclusion on the State Register, and that Council direct staff to prepare the required heritage nomination form and submit it to the Heritage Council for consideration.

Conclusion

The Draft LGI and Heritage List have been the result of a comprehensive review undertaken by a Heritage Consultant, in accordance with the Heritage Council guidelines and it is recommended that Council adopt them for the purposes of community consultation.

It is considered that the proposed Scheme Amendment will provide an improved framework for protecting heritage places, and the Draft Policy

will ensure that works to heritage places respects the cultural heritage significance associated with the places. The Draft Policy will also provide improved certainty to landowners and the community about the development control principles for heritage conservation and protection. It is therefore recommended that Council adopt Scheme Amendment No. 86 and the Draft Policy for community consultation.

It is also recommended that Council direct staff to nominate the Hamilton Hill Memorial Hall and South Fremantle Power Station for inclusion on the State Register of Heritage Places, in recognition of their exceptional heritage significance.

Strategic Plan/Policy Implications

Demographic Planning

 To ensure development will enhance the levels of amenity currently enjoyed by the community.

Lifestyle and Aspiration Achievement

- To foster a sense of community spirit within the district generally and neighbourhoods in particular.
- To conserve the character and historic value of the human and built environment.

Budget/Financial Implications

The preparation of the Draft LGI, Heritage List and Draft Policy, and the subsequent adverting process have been budged for in the 2009/2010 and 2010/2011 budget.

Legal Implications

N/A

Community Consultation

It is proposed that the Draft LGI, Heritage List and Draft Policy be advertised together to enable landowners to ascertain how they may be affected. This will largely be dependent on the management category allocated to the place, and whether it is also proposed to be included on the Heritage List.

All landowners affected by the Draft LGI and Heritage List will be consulted, including those places that are already included on the MI. The letters that will be sent to landowners will provide an explanation of the implications of the proposed listing, the Scheme Amendment and the Draft Policy.

While the Draft LGI, Heritage List and Draft Policy are proposed to be advertised together, there are different statutory advertising requirements for these proposals that must be met, and each of these are outlined below.

The Heritage of WA Act 1990 does not specify community consultation requirements for a LGI, beyond stating the local government shall ensure that the LGI is compiled with proper public consultation. However, the Scheme is clear regarding the required community consultation and process for including places on the Heritage List pursuant to the Scheme. This requires all landowners and occupiers of places proposed to be included on the Heritage List to be notified in writing, including reasons for the proposed entry. The minimum advertising period set out in the Scheme for advertising a draft Heritage List is 21 days.

The Draft Policy will be advertised in accordance with clause 2.5 of the scheme. This includes a notice of the proposed Policy in a newspaper for two consecutive weeks in accordance with clause 2.5.1(a), and furthermore notice of the proposed Policy will be included as part of the advertising of the amendment. The minimum advertising period set out in the Scheme for local planning policies is 21 days.

The advertising of the Scheme Amendment will be undertaken in accordance with the *Town Planning Regulations 1967*, which requires consultation to be undertaken subsequent to the local government adopting the Scheme Amendment and the Environmental Protection Authority ("EPA") advising that the proposal is environmentally acceptable. This requires the amendment to be advertised for a minimum period of 42 days.

To enable landowners' sufficient time to review the proposals and make a submission it is proposed that the Draft LGI, Draft Heritage List and Draft Policy be advertised for a period of 60 days.

Consultation will also be undertaken with relevant community groups, including the Cockburn Historical Society.

Attachment(s)

- 1. Draft Local Government Inventory
- 2. Draft Heritage List
- 3. List of places proposed to be removed from Heritage List
- 4. List of new places proposed for inclusion on Heritage List
- 5. Draft Significant Trees List (extract from Draft LGI)
- 6. Draft Local Planning Policy (Heritage Conservation Design Guidelines)



Advice to Proponent(s)/Submissioners

N/A

Implications of Section 3.18(3) Local Government Act, 1995

Nil.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST

The Presiding Member read a declaration of financial interest from Clr Tony Romano, pursuant to section 5.60B of the Local Government Act 1995, in the following item. The nature of his interest being that in his role as a Real Estate Agent, he has a property (land) that forms part of the Muriel Court Structure Plan.

CLR ROMANO LEFT THE MEETING, THE TIME BEING 8.10PM.

14.7 (MINUTE NO 4312) (OCM 08/07/2010) - FINAL CONSIDERATION OF LOCAL PLANNING POLICY APD60 'MURIEL COURT PRECINCT DESIGN **GUIDELINES** AND CONSIDERATION OF MODIFICATION TO MURIEL COURT STRUCTURE PLAN' - OWNER: VARIOUS - APPLICANT: CITY OF COCKBURN (SM/M/009) (M **CARBONE) (ATTACH)**

RECOMMENDATION

That Council:

- (1) subject to the structure plan being modified in accordance with the recommendations within this report and the Schedule of Submissions, Council adopt the revised Muriel Court (DA19) Structure Plan under Clause 6.2.14.1(a) of City of Cockburn Town Planning Scheme No. 3 ("Scheme"). This is to specifically include the deletion of the two proposed laneways on Lots 16, 17, 52, 53, 54, 55, 75, 76 and 81;
- (2) forward a copy of the revised Structure Plan to the Western Australian Planning Commission ("WAPC") for endorsement pursuant to Clause 6.2.14.3 of the Scheme;
- subject to the Draft Local Planning Policy No. APD60 'Muriel (3)Court Precinct Design Guidelines' being modified in accordance with the recommendations of this report and the Schedule of Submissions, adopt Local Planning Policy ADP60 pursuant to Clause 2.5.2(b) of the Scheme;
- adopt the Schedule of Submissions; (4)

52	

- (5) subject to the changes listed in Part 3 above, publish notice of the adopted Local Planning Policy APD60 in accordance with Clause 2.5.3(a) of the Scheme; and
- (6) advise those persons who made a submission of Council's decision, and advise the WAPC in accordance with Clause 2.5.3(b) of the Scheme.

COUNCIL DECISION

MOVED CIr I Whitfield SECONDED CIr S Limbert that the recommendation be adopted.

CARRIED 7/0

Background

Council at its meeting held on 8 April 2010 resolved to prepare a Local Planning Policy for the purpose of applying design guidelines to the Muriel Court Structure Plan area and to advertise the Draft Policy. The Draft Policy is known as APD60 'Muriel Court Precinct Design Guidelines'.

At the same meeting, Council also noted minor modifications to the approved Structure Plan in the form of additional laneways within the R60 area adjacent the realigned Semple Court and southern R80 to R160 coded areas as provided for by the draft Local Planning Policy.

The Draft Policy and minor changes to the Structure Plan were advertised for a period commencing on the 20 April 2010 and concluding on the 21 May 2010.

Submission

N/A

Report

<u>Draft Local Planning Policy APD60 - Muriel Court Precinct Design</u> <u>Guidelines</u>

Both the Muriel Court Structure Plan and City of Cockburn Town Planning Scheme No. 3 ("Scheme") require design guidelines for the Development Area 19 location, in order to achieve some degree of uniformity in design outcomes notwithstanding the highly fragmented land ownership which exists.



The design guidelines seek to establish the character of the buildings, public spaces and streets, and will guide development and subdivision applications. The design guidelines are important to create an attractive and well designed urban village, which readily allows the principles and intent of the Structure Plan to be achieved. Good urban design principles such as: buildings addressing the street, interesting and articulated facades, building expression and safety in design are incorporated into the document.

The design guidelines were advertised for a period of 28 days, including two consecutive notices in the local newspaper and letters to all adjoining and affected landowners. Refer to the Agenda attachments for a copy of the design guidelines.

A total of four submissions were received, two landowners raising concerns, one landowner concerned with the length of time to develop and one from the City's Environmental Department requesting additional sustainability initiatives to be included. Each submission is addressed in detail in the Schedule of Submissions which is contained within the Agenda attachments. In specifically noting the submissions raising concerns, these raised the following key points:

- Concerned that the restrictive and sometimes prescriptive nature of the design guidelines will limit the opportunity to redevelop effectively.
- Request minor changes to the development standards in order to maximise yields and provide greater flexibility.
- Request additional sustainability initiatives be added to the design guidelines.

In respect to these points, the following comments are provided:

- Given that the area is highly fragmented and consists of approximately 90 different landowners, the design guidelines need some prescriptive elements to ensure a level of consistently is applied to the Development Area. However, the design guidelines give sufficient flexibility to vary the development standards where good outcomes can be achieved.
- As stated within the Schedule of Submissions, a few of the development standards and wording within the document are recommended to be amended to respond to the concerns raised and provide greater flexibility.
- Further clarification and information on the sustainability initiatives have been added to the document in response to the submission from the City's Environmental Department.

The changes to the design guidelines as a result of the submissions are considered minor and are not considered to materially alter their intent. They have been modified to reflect the current version of the Structure Plan. In addition, as the proposed new laneways were advertised concurrent with the design guidelines and are being considered as part of this Council report, figure 8 'New Laneways' can be deleted from the design guidelines as it is no longer relevant. The reference to new laneways within the text of the design guidelines can also be deleted.

It is also recommended that a new sentence be added to the introduction indicating that early consultation with the City of Cockburn is encouraged for subdivision/development and should include prelodgement meetings.

Variation to the Structure Plan

Through the preparation of the design guidelines and the assessment of the possible development scenarios, it was determined that in some of the medium and high density areas additional laneways are required to accommodate the intended built form outcomes. These new laneways are identified in the Agenda attachments and in order to accommodate the new laneways, a variation to the Structure Plan was advertised at the same time as the design guidelines. During the advertising period a total of three submissions were received; one landowner raised concerns, one landowner requesting changes to a laneway alignment and one from a service authority providing no objections.

In relation to the submission raising concerns, it mentioned that the new laneway (over Lot 55) will further restrict the development potential of the site and that suitable built from outcomes can be achieved without the need for the laneway. In relation to these concerns it is noted that three of the properties affected by the new laneways (Lots 52, 53 and 55) within the south east section of the Structure Plan area, including the submissioners property, already have approximately 30 per cent of their sites allocated as public open space and the new laneways will further limit the developable area. Furthermore the laneway over Lots 16, 17, 53, 54 and 55 is over 250m long and is well in excess of the maximum laneway length recommended under Liveable Neighbourhoods.

In addition, the laneway over Lots 75, 76, 81 and 52 has an "L" shape and has a total length of 240m and the shape of this laneway means that is it not conducive to providing the most suitable passive surveillance outcomes. Again suitable built form outcomes can be achieved without the need for this laneway.

Accordingly, it is recommended that the two proposed laneways on Lots 16, 17, 52, 53, 54, 55, 75, 76 and 81 be deleted.



The other proposed laneways are recommended to remain, however the alignment of the laneway over Lots 12 and 13 is recommended to be changed as detailed within the Schedule of Submissions.

Conclusion

The design guidelines are necessary to satisfy the requirements of the City's Town Planning Scheme and the Development Area 19 Structure Plan. The design guidelines will provide for some degree of uniformity in design outcomes notwithstanding the highly fragmented land ownership which exists. Minor changes to the Design Guidelines are recommended as detailed in this report and the Schedule of Submissions and it is therefore recommended that the design guidelines be adopted pursuant to Clause 2.5.2(b) subject to these changes.

In relation to the proposed variation to the Structure Plan, it is recommended that the variation be approved by Council, subject to the deletion of two of the laneways as mentioned within this report and the Schedule of Submissions.

Strategic Plan/Policy Implications

Demographic Planning

- To ensure the planning of the City is based on an approach that has the potential to achieve high levels of convenience and prosperity for its citizens.
- To ensure development will enhance the levels of amenity currently enjoyed by the community.

Employment and Economic Development

To plan and promote economic development that encourages business opportunities within the City.

Budget/Financial Implications

N/A

Legal Implications

Planning and Development Act 2005 City of Cockburn Town Planning Scheme No. 3 Town Planning Regulations 1967

Community Consultation

The draft Local Planning Policy (design guidelines) and minor modifications to the Structure Plan were advertised for a period of 28 days. The Policy attracted four submissions; two landowners raising concerns, one landowner concerned about the length of time to develop and one from the City's environmental section requesting additional sustainability initiatives.

The variation to the Structure Plan attracted three submissions; one landowner raised concerns, one landowner requesting changes to a laneway alignment and one from a service authority providing no objections.

Attachment(s)

- 1. Adopted Muriel Court Structure Plan
- 2. Minor Modifications to the Muriel Court Structure Plan
- 3. Draft Local Planning Policy APD60 'Muriel Court Precinct Design Guidelines'
- 4. Schedule of Submissions Design Guidelines
- 5. Schedule of Submissions Variation to Structure Plan

Advice to Proponent(s)/Submissioners

Those that made submissions have been advised that the matter is to be considered at the 8 July 2010 Council meeting.

Implications of Section 3.18(3) Local Government Act, 1995

Nil.

CLR ROMANO RETURNED TO THE MEETING, THE TIME BEING 8.12PM.

THE PRESIDING MEMBER ADVISED CLR ROMANO OF THE DECISION OF COUNCIL IN HIS ABSENCE.

4313) (OCM 14.8 **(MINUTE** NO 08/07/2010) **PROPOSED** AMENDMENTS TO MASTERPLAN AND PROPOSED DISTRICT STRUCTURE PLAN HOPE VALLEY WATTLEUP REDEVELOPMENT **AREA** (LATITUDE 32) (SM/M/015) CATHERWOOD) (ATTACH)

RECOMMENDATION

That Council:

- (1) adopts the Schedule of Officer Comments;
- (2) refers the Schedule of Officer Comments and a copy of the officer report to Landcorp for their consideration;

- reiterates to Landcorp Council's support for the long term (3)retention and protection of the rural area between Latitude 32 and the Thomson's Lake/Harry Waring Marsupial conservation reserves, and that the Schedule of Officer Comments is particularly focussed on achieving this objective; and
- (4) advise Landcorp at the detailed design level, Council seeks a balance between the land required from its Resource Recovery Centre for the Intermodal Freight terminal and the land it will need to acquire for the Centre's activities from the property immediately north as well as the accommodation of the operation's buffer requirement.

COUNCIL DECISION

MOVED CIr R O'Brien SECONDED CIr I Whitfield that Council adopt the recommendation with the following amendments:

- (1) to (4) as recommended, with the addition that the suggestions re the noise and or other buffers or separation distances required and appropriate uses instead of general industry too close to residences on rural properties be more strongly worded to reflect Council's decision to refuse the application of brick crushing plant;
- (5) insert a new Item (5) as follows:
 - (5) requests that Landcorp provide the City with details of timelines and compensation arrangements that will be made with the remaining homeowners in the Hope Valley Wattleup redevelopment Area within 2 months.

MOTION LOST 2/6

MOVED CIr C Reeve-Fowkes SECONDED CIr V Oliver that Council adopt the recommendation with the following amendments, namely insert new items (4) and (6):

- (1) to (3) as recommended;
- in respect to (3) above, Council seek an appropriate interface (4) provided between rural and future urban areas in proximity of Latitude 32. This interface zone should be at least 250 metres or above in width, to ensure an appropriate land use alternative can be viably established. Specific attention is drawn to the Russell Road, Holmes Road, Henderson Road and Fancote Avenue precincts;

- (5) adopt the Officer's recommendation (4) and renumber it accordingly; and
- (6) request that Landcorp provide the City with details of timelines of future redevelopment within the Hope Valley Wattleup redevelopment Area.

CARRIED 7/1

Reason for Decision

Whilst Officer comments address the need for an appropriate interface, it is necessary to ensure this forms a specific part of Council's resolution. This will ensure clarity exists in terms of Landcorp clearly understanding Council's expectations in terms of providing an appropriate interface zone between Latitude 32 and adjoining areas.

Background

The 1400ha proposed industrial area at Hope Valley/Wattleup was first earmarked for development in the late 1990s. It was excised from both the Metropolitan Region Scheme ("MRS") and the local planning schemes of the City of Cockburn and the Town of Kwinana by the Hope Valley Wattleup Redevelopment Act 2000.

Responsibility for structure planning for this area, now known as Latitude 32, lies with Landcorp. Development approval and compliance management is the responsibility of the Department of Planning.

In March 2005, a Masterplan was endorsed for Latitude 32. This document replaced the MRS and both local government planning schemes insofar as they related to the Latitude 32 area. The Masterplan established a two tiered approach to structure planning for the area. A district structure plan is required for the broader area which is then to be refined to local structure plans at precinct level.

A draft Latitude 32 District Structure Plan has now been released for consultation. It is accompanied by several amendments to the Masterplan which will remedy points of difference between the proposed District Structure Plan and the 2005 Masterplan. Comments on those amendments and the proposed District Structure Plan are the subject of this report.



Submission

N/A

Report

In principle, the issues City staff has raised with the proponent in the past have been addressed. The major issues covered by the Schedule of Comments relate to implementation measures and can be broadly categorised as:

- social: relationship to and impact on adjacent land uses (rural areas of Cockburn);
- environment: robustness of sustainability and environmental performance, and;
- economic: lack of incentives outlined to encourage clustering of businesses to achieve better environmental and economic outcomes.

These issues are elaborated below:

Social

The key objectives of the draft District Structure Plan do not address the issue of social sustainability or integrating appropriately with surrounding land uses.

In the Fremantle Rockingham Industrial Area Regional Strategy (FRIARS), the rural area to the east of Latitude 32 was retained as a transition/buffer between industrial and conservation areas. This principle was strongly supported by the landowners in that area, and it is known that many still hold that view and do not wish to relocate or develop for industrial purposes. It was also an important principle in retaining the rural area in the FRIARS study that the industrial area would be planned and developed in such a way that all impacts (including noise) would be contained within the industrial area and there would be no impacts on residents in the rural or residential areas.

In relation to this, areas along the northern and eastern boundaries of the draft Plan are indicated as 'General Industry' which is not appropriate.

This area needs to interface with the existing rural environment which is expected to remain in the longer term. This interface should be shown similar to the northern gateway and Power Avenue which are 'Light Industry/Business Park'. A core of heavier industries surrounded by a buffer of light industry would be consistent with State Planning Policy 4.1 - State Industrial Buffer Policy.

It is generally known also that industrial areas can generate high noise levels and to date there has been no comprehensive noise study prepared. As there are a number of areas where separation distances are below 50m between houses (sensitive premises) and the Latitude 32 area, it is important that development at this interface be managed. As no detailed noise study has been carried out to date, the extent of potential noise impacts (if any) on the rural residents cannot be determined.

Notwithstanding this, the City is of the view that no activity in the Latitude 32 area should affect the rural community in any way, consistent with Section 6.4.3 of the Master Plan. This requires that land use and development within the redevelopment area be carried out and managed so as to ensure that any individual or cumulative noise generated during the construction or operation of any development does not adversely affect existing and/or potential future neighbouring land uses. This must ensure that unacceptable levels of noise do not encroach beyond the redevelopment area boundary.

Clearly some of the truck movements within Latitude 32 will be for targeted destinations (new Port, intermodal terminal, AMC etc). However others will be via the Kwinana Freeway / Roe Highway interchange. This latter movement is of significant concern, as there is the potential to directly feed high numbers of trucks onto Russell Road which would be a shorter, more convenient movement than Rowley Road particularly for inbound truck movements accessing the centre of Latitude 32. A major increase in truck movements along Russell Road will have a significant impact on the community either side of Russell Road.

Environment

Much discussion in the document is given to the intent to have sustainable outcomes from the Latitude 32 development. However, there is a clear disconnect between the District Structure Plan and future planning processes to facilitate these outcomes.

The District Structure Plan mentions a Concept Plan has been prepared for alternative industry feedwater to selected industries and precincts. It is stated in the Plan that feasibility should be investigated by developers at local structure plan stage. Notably, the DSP stops short of requiring an alternative supply (presumably so as not to stifle development), however, it could provide some level of incentives which could also apply to waste management generally. For example, rewarding the promotion of resource recovery technologies and encouraging clusters of industry where better industry ecology outcomes can occur.

Sustainability performance of the District Structure Plan lists a variety of measures. In terms of "third pipe" and alternative feedwater supply



these statements are not performance measures. They are references to initiatives "investigated" but not embodied by this draft District Structure Plan and with no clear direction for how they may be implemented. In essence, the Plan does not prevent these initiatives, but it does not actively facilitate them either.

Economic

Economic and sustainable outcomes could also be more achievable if the District Structure Plan placed more emphasis on its connection with the surrounding region. As an example, the proposed shuttle bus route proposed is entirely limited to servicing the Latitude 32 development. Consideration could be given to broader options which include catchment/destinations of Henderson Industrial Area and Australian Marine Complex. These areas may have some bus services currently, however these are north-south focused and do not provide the east-west connection to the Southern Suburbs Rail Line.

This issue is not likely to be resolved at local structure planning level. There is no clear indication in the District Structure Plan how this issue will be progressed.

Operational Issues (Resource Recovery Centre)

Aside from the planning issues raised as formal comments on the amendments to the Masterplan and proposed District Structure Plan, it is appropriate to provide feedback from Council's role as a landowner within the area.

Changes are proposed to the zoning of Council's Resource Recovery Centre to accommodate the Intermodal Freight Terminal. As flagged in the documents, Council has been involved in discussion of this proposal. It is important to flag Council's expectations at the more detailed levels of planning which will follow these documents. An officer recommendation has been included to ensure Landcorp are aware of the need for a balance between the land required from its Resource Recovery Centre for the Intermodal Freight Terminal and the land it will need to acquire for the Centre's activities from the property immediately north. The need for the accommodation of the Resource Recovery Centre's buffer has also been drawn to Landcorp's attention.

Conclusion

Detailed comments on the specific elements of each document can be found in the Schedule of Comments (Attachment 3). It is recommended that Council adopts the Schedule of Comments and forwards them to Landcorp for their consideration with a copy of this report.

Strategic Plan/Policy Implications

Latitude 32 is outside the City's planning control and therefore City policies are not directly applicable. The development of the Latitude 32 area for industrial purposes is consistent with Council's "Plan for the District 2010-2020".

Demographic Planning

- To ensure the planning of the City is based on an approach that has the potential to achieve high levels of convenience and prosperity for its citizens.
- To ensure development will enhance the levels of amenity currently enjoyed by the community.

Budget/Financial Implications

There are no immediate implications, however, in the longer term the land will be returned to the local governments. It is important to ensure that applicable development contribution plans are robust and well managed to ensure this transition occurs smoothly and there are no negative financial implications for the City.

Legal Implications

N/A

Community Consultation

Landcorp commenced consultation on 26 May and submissions must be received by 26 July. Community information sessions were held over the month of June.

Attachment(s)

- 1. Proposed amendments to Masterplan
- 2. Proposed District Structure Plan
- Aerial Photograph of Subject Land
- 4. Schedule of Submissions

Advice to Proponent(s)/Submissioners

City officers have met with the proponents over a number of years and provided input. Most recently, in February 2009, the proponent was provided with formal Council comments of the proposed Kwinana Intermodal Freght Terminal.

Implications of Section 3.18(3) Local Government Act, 1995

Nil.

•

14.9 (MINUTE NO 4314) (OCM 08/07/2010) - DETAILED AREA PLANS FOR LOTS 785 AND 786 PORT COOGEE, NORTH COOGEE - PREPARED BY: TAYLOR BURRELL BARNETT - PROPONENT: AUSTRALAND (PS/A/001) (T WATSON) (ATTACH)

RECOMMENDATION

That Council:

- (1) approve the Detailed Area Plans presented for Lots 785 and 786 Port Coogee, North Coogee, prepared by Taylor Burrell Barnett for Australand, pursuant to the provisions contained under Clause 6.2.15 of the City of Cockburn Town Planning Scheme No. 3, subject to the maximum height for basement level development above post subdivision ground levels being limited to 1.2 metres on both lots;
- (2) delegate authority to the Manager of Planning to administer the change to the Detailed Area Plans in respect of the condition above regarding basement level development above post subdivision ground levels; and
- (3) advise the applicant accordingly.

TO BE CARRIED BY AN ABSOLUTE MAJORITY OF COUNCIL

COUNCIL DECISION

MOVED CIr R O'Brien SECONDED CIr V Oliver that Council defer approval of Detailed Area Plans for Lots 785 and 786 Port Coogee, North Coogee.

MOTION LOST 2/6

MOVED CIr C Reeve-Fowkes SECONDED CIr L Smith that Council adopt the recommendation with the following amendments:

- (1) as recommended;
- (2) delegate authority to the Manager of Statutory Planning to administer the change to the Detailed Area Plans on Lot 786 only, in respect of the condition above regarding basement level development above post subdivision ground levels;
- (3) as recommended; and

(4) where a DAP may affect landowners other than the owner of the land the subject of the plan, the City will undertake consultation.

CARRIED BY ABSOLUTE MAJORITY OF COUNCIL 6/2

NOTE: CLR O'BRIEN REQUESTED THAT HER VOTE AGAINST THIS MOTION BE RECORDED.

Reason for Decision

To provide clarification of the specific area that is to be changed within the Detailed Area Plans. There are no changes to Lot 785, but changes to Lot 786 are required. Delegated Authority is supported on this Lot only as the changes are of a minor nature. SAT has deliberated on the marina village and we are bound by that decision. All other detailed area plans for Port Coogee are to come before full Council for approval.

Background

The Council at its 14 February 2008 meeting resolved to approve a Detailed Area Plan (DAP) providing development control for Lots 785 and 786, Port Coogee. Lots 785 and 786 are located on the southern side of the Marina Village, between Orsino Boulevard and the western breakwater.

Recently, with the adoption of the Revised Local Structure Plan following mediation at SAT (State Administrative Tribunal), Lot 786 has been incorporated into the Marina Village. This was always intended as part of the Revised Local Structure Plan. With this change, planning controls applicable to the two lots will be different to the extent that the Residential Planning Codes (R-Codes) no longer apply to Lot 786.

To provide interim arrangements pending the adoption of Built Form Codes for the Marina Village, two (2) separate DAP's have been lodged with the City for approval by Council.

Submission

The status quo is being maintained in respect of the controls applicable to Lot 785. The DAP continues to addresses amongst matters:

 the interface of future development on the land to the lot frontages and adjoining Public Open Space (POS);

- development potential, including building height, plot ratio etc;
- building design considerations, including elevation requirements adjacent to the Public Open Space, and the location of service areas and related hardware; and
- vehicular access details.

With respect to the DAP for Lot 786, all text references to the R-Codes have been removed. Reference to plot ratio has also been removed. To ensure a number of standard 'R-Code type' requirements are addressed as part of any proposal, the following additional considerations have been included in the DAP:

- fencing the requirement for fencing to be visually permeable above 1.2 metre where it is erected on the lot boundaries (i.e. on a street frontage or adjoining the POS);
- fill limiting fill or basement level projections to a maximum height above natural ground level where the property interfaces with the public domain; and
- storage the requirement for each dwelling on-site to be provided with 4 square metres of storage (enclosed and lockable) with a minimum dimension of 1.5 metres.

The DAP for Lot 786 also proposes a reduction in balcony size from 20 to 10 square metres given the now location of the site within the Marina Village and a site open space requirement of 50%.

Report

The separation of the existing single DAP for Lots 785 and 786 into two (2) DAP's for the respective lots takes account of the inclusion of Lot 786 into the Marina Village. With the exception of the deletion of reference to Lot 786, the status is maintained in terms of requirements for development on Lot 785.

The DAP for Lot 786 removes reference to previously relevant R-Code considerations, whilst including several relevant matters that would otherwise apply under the Codes. With the exception of the 1.5 metre basement projection height above post subdivision ground levels, the DAP is supported as presented. To ensure an appropriate ground level pedestrian response is achieved across the Marina Village, a maximum height of 1.2 metres above post subdivision ground levels is recommended.

Conclusion

The embellished set of planning considerations for the lot will apply pending the approval (by Council) of Built Form Codes for the Marina Village. The Built Form Codes are expected in 3-4 months. It is,

therefore, recommended the DAP's be approved by Council subject to the requirement for both to refer to a maximum height for basements above post subdivision ground levels of 1.2 metres.

Approval of the DAP's is in accordance with the provisions of 6.2.15 of the scheme. The provisions identify planning considerations to be included in DAP's and the process for adopting such. Where a DAP may affect landowners other than the owner of the land subject of the plan, the City may undertake consultation. Noting, however, the planning requirements for the two lots currently exist on one approved DAP, consultation is not considered necessary.

Strategic Plan/Policy Implications

APD 31 'Detailed Area Plans'

Demographic Planning

- To ensure the planning of the City is based on an approach that has the potential to achieve high levels of convenience and prosperity for its citizens.
- To ensure development will enhance the levels of amenity currently enjoyed by the community.

Lifestyle and Aspiration Achievement

 To foster a sense of community spirit within the district generally and neighbourhoods in particular.

Governance Excellence

 To conduct Council business in open public forums and to manage Council affairs by employing publicly accountable practices.

Budget/Financial Implications

N/A

Legal Implications

Town Planning Scheme No. 3
Planning and Development Act 2005

Community Consultation

The DAP's have not been the subject of consultation noting their content is largely the same as the existing approved DAP for the lots.

Attachment(s)

- 1. Location/Structure Plan
- 2. Detailed Area Plan Lot 785
- 3. Detailed Area Plan Lot 786

Advice to Proponent(s)/Submissioners

The proponent has been advised that this matter is to be considered at the 8 July 2010 Council Meeting.

Implications of Section 3.18(3) Local Government Act, 1995

Nil.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST

The Presiding Member read a declaration of financial interest from Clr Whitfield, pursuant to section 5.62(1)(b) of the Local Government Act 1995, in the following item. The nature of the interest being, that he is an employee of the Coogee Primary School which is listed as a recipient of a payment from Council.

CLR WHITFIELD LEFT THE MEETING, THE TIME BEING 8.49PM.

15. FINANCE AND CORPORATE SERVICES DIVISION ISSUES

15.1 (MINUTE NO 4315) (OCM 08/07/2010) - LIST OF CREDITORS PAID - MAY 2010 (5605) (N MAURICIO) (ATTACH)

RECOMMENDATION

That Council receive the List of Creditors Paid for May 2010, as attached to the Agenda.

COUNCIL DECISION

MOVED CIr S Limbert SECONDED CIr V Oliver that the recommendation be adopted.

CARRIED 7/0



Background

It is a requirement of the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996, that a List of Creditors be compiled each month and provided to Council.

Submission

N/A

Report

The list of accounts for May 2010 is attached to the Agenda for consideration. The list contains details of payments made by the City in relation to goods and services received by the City.

Strategic Plan/Policy Implications

Governance Excellence

 To conduct Council business in open public forums and to manage Council affairs by employing publicly accountable practices.

Budget/Financial Implications

N/A

Legal Implications

N/A

Community Consultation

N/A

Attachment(s)

List of Creditors Paid – May 2010.

Advice to Proponent(s)/Submissioners

N/A

Implications of Section 3.18(3) Local Government Act, 1995

Nil.



CLR WHITFIELD RETURNED TO THE MEETING, THE TIME BEING 8.50PM.

THE PRESIDING MEMBER ADVISED CLR WHITFIELD OF THE DECISION OF COUNCIL IN HIS ABSENCE.

15.2 (MINUTE NO 4316) (OCM 08/07/2010) - STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITY AND ASSOCIATED REPORTS - MAY 2010 (5505) (N MAURICIO) (ATTACH)

RECOMMENDATION

That Council receive the Statements of Financial Activity and associated reports for May 2010, as attached to the Agenda.

COUNCIL DECISION

MOVED CIr S Limbert SECONDED CIr C Reeve-Fowkes that the recommendation be adopted.

CARRIED 8/0

Background

Regulation 34(1) of the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996 prescribes that a local government is to prepare each month a Statement of Financial Activity.

Regulation 34(2) requires the Statement of Financial Activity to be accompanied by documents containing:—

- (a) details of the composition of the closing net current assets (less restricted and committed assets);
- (b) explanations for each material variance identified between YTD budgets and actuals; and
- (c) any other supporting information considered relevant by the local government.

Regulation 34(4)(a) prescribes that the Statement of Financial Activity and accompanying documents be presented to Council within 2 months after the end of the month to which the statement relates.

The regulations require the information reported in the statement to be shown either by nature and type, statutory program or business unit.

70

The City has chosen to report the information according to its organisational business structure, as well as by nature and type.

Financial Management Regulation 34(5) requires Council to annually set a materiality threshold for the purpose of disclosing budget variance details. To this end, Council has adopted a materiality threshold variance of \$100,000 for the 2009/10 financial year.

Submission

N/A

Report

Council's financial performance to the end of May shows the ytd budget in surplus by \$6.5m. This amount is largely representative of underspending in operating expenses on a ytd basis and to a lesser extent, additional operating revenues. There are no areas of major concern within the results.

Closing Funds

Council's closing funds (adjusted net current assets position representing liquidity) remains well above the budget target, reflecting a healthy financial position. At \$22.3M, this is \$6.5M higher than the forecast (\$0.3M more than at the end of April). The major reason for this continues to be our cash operating expenses tracking behind budget by \$4.1M. However, this underspending variance has reduced by \$1.3M over the past two months, indicating a catch up of lagging costs. Additional, operating revenue is also contributing to the surplus being \$1.5M ahead of ytd budget.

Council's cash and investment holdings (including restricted items) stand at \$58.3M. Cash reserves and other restricted cash comprise \$36.2M of this total, with the balance of \$22.1M (plus \$0.2M of non-cash net current assets) available to fund remaining commitments and operations for the 2009/10 year.

Operating Revenue

Operating revenues exceed the ytd budget by \$1.5M. There are several areas comprising this variance.

Investment earnings on both municipal and reserve funds continue to outperform the budget (\$584K at the end of May). This is despite an upwards revision for earnings in the mid-year budget review and reflects the impact of rising interest rates in general and abnormally favourable term deposit rates.



Revenue from rates is \$683K ahead of the ytd budget and \$606K ahead of the full year budget.

Rubbish removal charges levied are \$226K ahead of both the ytd and full year budget. However, these funds are applied to waste collection services and any year end surplus over and above service delivery costs, will be guarantined and used to subsidise future costs in the delivery of the service.

Income from operations at the Henderson Waste Recovery Park is \$270k ahead of the ytd budget.

Operating Expenditure

Operating expenditure of a cash nature is tracking below the ytd budget by \$4.1M. The major contributing items at a nature and type summary level is materials and contracts at \$2.6M and other expenses at \$0.7M (comprising mainly landfill levy). Utility costs are also \$0.5M below budget due to a lag in billing.

The apparent underspending in materials and contracts is largely attributed to the lag in supplier invoicing and processing. This is a common phenomenon for the City each year and tends to rectify itself incrementally the closer we get to the end of financial year. Another contributing factor is the carried forward non capital projects (totalling \$0.3M). However, some of this variance is expected to flow towards an end of year surplus.

Council's biggest expense line item - employee costs is tracking the budget in accordance with expectations at above 98%.

The majority of the Business Units are tracking below budget; however, several contribute mostly to the variance of \$4.4M.

Waste Services have a ytd budget variance of \$1.2M comprising:

- RRRC entry fees down \$0.5Mk
- Waste Recovery Park operating expenses down \$0.5M;

Operating costs are below ytd budget within the Parks and Environment business unit by \$1.0M and within Roads by \$0.6M.

Capital Expenditure

Council's capital spend continues to follow the historical pattern of underperforming the budget on a cash basis. As at the end of May, the actual spend was \$23.4M, being \$6.0M below the ytd budget target. However, allowing for the value of committed orders, forecast costs are on track against the ytd budget. This is graphically illustrated in the Capital Expenditure chart accompanying the statements.

However, these commitments will not be fully realised by the end of June, as evidenced by the large amount carried forward in the 2010/11 budget for uncompleted works (\$12.9M). The Capital Expenditure chart shows that a substantial amount of the capital budget is cash flowed to occur in June, which has translated into the large quantum of carried forwards in next year's budget.

Council's building infrastructure program contributes \$3.1M to the variance and our land development program is \$1.6M. Council's other infrastructure capital programs are collectively \$1.3M behind budget.

Variances for specific projects can be found within the variance analysis schedule for Capital Expenditure accompanying the statements.

The delay in out flowing cash results in additional investment earnings accruing towards either Council's general purpose income or the cash backed Reserves.

<u>Description of Graphs and Charts included within Statements</u>

There is a bar graph tracking Business Unit operating expenditure against budget. This provides a very quick view of how the different units are tracking and the comparative size of their budgets.

The Capital Expenditure graph tracks the ytd capital spend against the budget. It also includes an additional trend line for the total of ytd actual expenditure and committed orders. This gives a better indication of how the capital budget is being exhausted, than just purely actual cost alone.

A liquidity graph shows the level of Council's net current position (adjusted for restricted assets) and trends this against previous years. This gives a good indication of Council's capacity to meet its financial commitments over the course of the year. This month's position is comparable with that of the same time last year.

Council's overall cash and investments position is provided in a line graph with a comparison against the ytd budget and the previous year's position at the same time. This is currently showing a stronger position than budgeted and is consistent with the information reported above.

Pie charts included show the break up of actual operating income and expenditure by nature and type and the make up of Council's current assets and liabilities (comprising the net current position).



Strategic Plan/Policy Implications

Governance Excellence

To conduct Council business in open public forums and to manage Council affairs by employing publicly accountable practices.

Budget/Financial Implications

Material variances identified of a permanent nature (i.e. not due to timing issues) may impact on Council's final budget position (depending upon its nature).

Legal Implications

N/A

Community Consultation

N/A

Attachment(s)

Statements of Financial Activity and associated Reports - May 2010.

Advice to Proponent(s)/Submissioners

N/A

Implications of Section 3.18(3) Local Government Act, 1995

Nil.

16. **ENGINEERING AND WORKS DIVISION ISSUES**

(MINUTE NO 4317) (OCM 08/07/2010) - TENDER NO. RFT 33/2009 - CLEANING SERVICES - PUBLIC, COMMUNITY & ADMINISTRATION FACILITIES (RFT 33/2009) (M LITTLETON / D VICKERY) (ATTACH)

RECOMMENDATION

That Council:

(1) accept the tender submitted by Spotless Services Australia Ltd, T/A Arrix, for Tender No. RFT33/2009 - Cleaning Services -Public, Community and Administration Facilities, for the lump sum of \$633,972.73 GST exclusive (\$697,370.00 GST inclusive) per annum and the schedule of rates submitted for post function, unscheduled and ad hoc cleaning services, for a period

74	
	1

of three(3) years commencing 16 August 2010;

- (2) seek a commitment from Arrix that they will contact both MP Cleaning and Cleandustrial to discuss opportunities for staff placement during the transition period; and
- (3) write to both MP Cleaning and Cleandustrial thanking them for their 29 years and 7 years cleaning services respectively to the City and wishing them well in their future endeavours.

COUNCIL DECISION

MOVED CIr R O'Brien SECONDED CIr L Smith that Council defer the decision on this tender.

MOTION LOST 3/5

MOVED CIr I Whitfield SECONDED CIr S Limbert that the Officer's recommendation be adopted.

CARRIED 5/3

Background

Since 2003 the City of Cockburn has had the majority of its building, facility and public barbeque cleaning undertaken by two contractors. Cleandustrial Services undertook cleaning of the City's Administration and Community Facility buildings on a scheduled and ad hoc basis, whilst MP Cleaning undertook most of the scheduled cleaning of toilet blocks, changerooms and public barbeques.

The end date for the existing Contract No.RFT 18/2003 was 31 July 2007. Throughout that period it was identified that the contract did not meet the City's needs on account of the many changes to the City's infrastructure and the increased standards being expected of the cleaning. Officers commenced a review of the general scope and in the interim, the incumbent contractors were utilised to continue to provide cleaning services.

The City engaged the services of Consultant John Clohessy of Changing Directions Pty Ltd to assist officers in preparing a comprehensive specification for our cleaning services and to assist with the tender assessment. A new contract was developed that offers an improved cleaning regime, added controls on cleaning standard,

75

including key performance indicators, and more targeted pricing for various, as required ad hoc cleaning activities.

Tender No.RFT 33/2009 Cleaning Services - Public, Community and Administration Facilities was advertised on Wednesday, 19 August 2009 in the Local Government Tenders section of "The West Australian" newspaper. It was also displayed on the City's website between 18 August and 15 September 2009. The evaluation has taken a considerable period of time and the matter was presented to Council at its April Ordinary Council meeting. The matter was deferred at that meeting with Council seeking copies of the detailed assessment undertaken by Changing Directions Pty Ltd.

This matter was further considered at the 10 June 2010 Council Meeting, with the following decision:

"that the matter be deferred and a workshop be held to determine whether the City and its ratepayers are receiving value for money".

The workshop was scheduled for 24 June 2010; however it was cancelled due to the unavailability of a majority of Elected Members. As a number of Elected Members have discussed the matter with staff individually, the need for a further workshop is not considered necessary.

Submission

Tender Intent/ Requirements

The contract is for the provision of daily, other scheduled and ad hoc cleaning services for the City of Cockburn's facilities and buildings over a three year contract period.

Tender submissions were received from:

- 1. Cleandustrial Services Pty Ltd
- Peselj Family Trust Trading as MP Cleaning Contractors 2.
- 3. Tangata Pty Ltd – Trading as List's Cleaning Services
- 4. MPJ Cleaning Services
- Office and Industrial Cleaning Pty Ltd 5.
- A Group of Companies Trading as ALLclean Property 6. Services Plus
- 7. Spotless Services Australia Ltd – Trading as Arrix
- **Dominant Property Services** 8.
- **Presidential Contract Services** 9.



Report

Compliant Tenderers

<u>With the exception of Presidential Contract Services all tenderers were compliant with the following criteria:</u>

	Compliance Criteria
Α	Attendance at the Mandatory Tender Briefing/Site Inspection
В	Compliance with the Specification
С	Compliance with the Conditions of Tendering
D	Compliance with Insurance Requirements and completion of Clause 5.2.7
D1	Public Liability Insurance \$10,000,000.00 Australian
D2	Workers Compensation or Personal Accident Insurance
D3	Employees Superannuation
E	Compliance with the Occupational Safety & Health Requirements and completion of Appendix A
F	Compliance with and completion of the Price Schedule & Cost Analysis Spreadsheets

Presidential Contract Services was deemed non-compliant as it lodged another organisation's tender (Tender No. ETT1555-2009) in error and therefore their submission was returned and not included in the evaluation.

All compliant tenderers other than Office and Industrial Cleaning Pty Ltd completed price schedules for both Groups 1 and 2., Office and Industrial Cleaning completed a price schedule for Group 2 only (which was allowable under the conditions of tendering).

Evaluation Criteria

Tenders were assessed against the following criteria:

Evaluation Criteria	Weighting Percentage
Hours of Work	20%
Pricing Schedules	5%
Demonstrated Cleaning Services Experience	15%
Environmentally Managed Cleaning Services	20%
Past & Current Contracts	5%
Evidence of Company Stability	5%
Transition Plan and Implementation Strategy	5%

Tendered Price – Lump Sum	25%
TOTAL	100%

Evaluation Panel

The tender submissions were evaluated by:

- 1. Phil Crabbe - Facilities & Plant Manager, Infrastructure Services
- 2. Pieter Zietsman Building Maintenance Coordinator, Infrastructure Services
- John Clohessy Consultant, Changing Directions Pty Ltd. 3.

Evaluation Result - Combined Scoring Tables

Group 1 - Public Facilities (Public Toilets & Barbecues)			
	Percentage Score		
Tenderer's Name	Non Cost Evaluation	Cost Evaluation	Total
	75%	25%	100%
Arrix **	66.78	20.49	87.26
Cleandustrial Services P/L	65.42	18.14	83.55
ALLclean Property Services Plus	46.73	10.98	57.71
MPJ Cleaning Services	25.50	25.00	50.50
MP Cleaning Contractors	26.05	23.43	49.49
List's Cleaning Services	28.11	20.75	48.85
Dominant Property Services	22.23	16.85	39.08

Group 2 - Community & Administration Facilities			
	Percentage Score		
Tenderer's Name	Non Cost Evaluation	Cost Evaluation	Total
	75%	25%	100%
Arrix **	66.78	21.78	88.56
Cleandustrial Services P/L	65.42	20.85	86.27
ALLclean Property Services Plus	46.73	14.6	61.33
Office and Industrial Cleaning	35.39	18.52	53.91
MPJ Cleaning services	25.50	25.00	50.50
MP Cleaning Contractors	26.05	24.06	50.11
Dominant Property Services	22.23	21.64	43.87
List's Cleaning Services	28.11	13.49	41.60

^{**} Recommended Submissions

Evaluation Criteria Assessment

Hours of Work

All the tenderers scored equal on this item, having submitted required schedules, containing useful information that allowed for evaluation.

Pricing Schedules

All the tenderers submitted the pricing schedules as per the spreadsheets provided for this purpose. The quality of some of the submissions was not as thorough as others and this is reflected in the scores, with Arrix and Cleandustrial Services scoring highest in this criteria.

Demonstrated Cleaning Services Experience

The assessment of this criteria was based on information provided by the tenderers in their submissions. The three tenderers that scored highest in these criteria were Arrix, Cleandustrial Services and ALLclean Property Services Plus.

Cleandustrial Services is currently contracted by Council to do cleaning of the Administration building and various other Council buildings. They are doing a good job and can be expected to continue to do so if given more work. They also provided references to support their claim.

Arrix is a well established cleaning company and have shown in their submission, and references, that they have the necessary experience to do the work.

Whilst MP Cleaning have been providing cleaning services to the City for in excess of 27 years, their cleaning quality has not been rated as highly as either Cleandustrial or Arrix. Referees spoken to as part of the assessment and the subsequent review have referenced quality of clean and process issues. Whilst MP Cleaning have proved to be responsive when contacted by staff, these issues have increased officer time in managing the contractor and represent a failure in MP Cleaning's internal management systems.

Environmentally Managed Cleaning Services

Cleandustrial Services and Arrix rated highest on this criteria. The companies provided adequate information and were judged as being able to deliver the service within the City's guidelines.

The remaining tenderers made an effort to address this criteria, however based on their submissions it was not evident that the City's policies would be addressed sufficiently.



Past & Current Contracts

Most tenderers have had and/or are currently engaged in contracts for similar works to that being tendered by the City. Each of the tenderers scored full marks for this criteria other than MP Cleaning, MPJ Cleaning, List's Cleaning Services and Dominant Property Services, these companies being marked down on account of the limited scope or scale of contracts they have been involved in.

The panel concluded that MP Cleaning have not done cleaning to the scale as required by this tender and they were considered to not have the capacity to fulfil all the stringent requirements of the Contract.

Evidence of Company Stability

Cleandustrial Services, Arrix and ALLclean Property Services Plus provided sufficient information to substantiate their company's stability. All these three companies scoring the maximum 5% on this criteria. As part of the assessment the City commissioned a financial risk assessment of both Cleandustrial Services P/L and Spotless Services Australia Ltd (T/as Arrix) by obtaining a full Dun and Bradstreet credit reference report. Both companies were reported to be stable and rated with a low to medium risk to Council.

Transition Plan and Implementation Strategy

Cleandustrial Services, Arrix and ALLclean Property Services Plus all scored the maximum 5% on this criterion, with the other tenderers variously rating lower. Cleandustrial already undertakes the cleaning on various Council buildings and would be expected to have very few problems taking on the cleaning of more of Council's properties.

Arrix have proposed a transition plan that it considered would be able to ensure a smooth transition into the new contract.

MP Cleaning currently also undertake some cleaning services for Council, however did not provide the panel with confidence of a satisfactory transition into the new contract.

Assessment Summation

The tender submitted by Spotless Services Australia Ltd, trading as Arrix, scored highest in the combined price and non-price score for both the Group 1 and Group 2 parts of the cleaning contract. The Company were assessed as having the capacity to undertake the work to the required standard and to achieve a smooth transition from the existing contract. The company's tendered price is also lower than the next highest scoring tenderer (Cleandustrial) and based on this assessment would be recommended for both Group 1 and 2.

Cleandustrial Services provided a quality tender submission and achieved the second highest combined price and non-price score for both Groups. They rated highly across all criteria, including a potential smooth transition into a new contract and officers are more than happy with the quality of service that they have provided to the City to date. Arrix price however is 8% lower than Cleandustrial and they offer further savings through a more competitive schedule of rates for additional and ad-hoc cleaning.

Strategic Plan/Policy Implications

Infrastructure Development

• To construct and maintain community facilities that meet community needs.

Lifestyle and Aspiration Achievement

 To deliver our services and to manage resources in a way that is cost effective without compromising quality.

Budget/Financial Implications

The price represents an approximate 11% increase in costs which was anticipated given the increased scope of this contract. The expenditure is budgeted for in the normal building and facilities operational and general ledger budgets every year.

Legal Implications

Section 3.57 of the Local Government Act 1995 and Part 4 of the Local Government (Functions and General) Regulations 1996 refers.

Community Consultation

N/A

Attachment(s)

The following confidential attachments are provided under a separate cover:

- 1. Tender Evaluation Sheets
- 2. Supplementary Assessment
- Changing Directions Pty Ltd's Evaluation Report

Advice to Proponent(s)/Submissioners

Those who lodged a tender submission have been advised that this matter is to be considered at the 10 June 2010 Council Meeting.



Implications of Section 3.18(3) Local Government Act, 1995

Nil.

COMMUNITY SERVICES DIVISION ISSUES 17.

(MINUTE NO 4318) (OCM 08/07/2010) - EXTENSION OF TIME

COUNCIL DECISION

MOVED CIr I Whitfield SECONDED CIr T Romano that Council extend the meeting for a period of 30 minutes, in accordance with Clause 4.14 of Council's Standing Orders Local Laws, the time being 8.57pm.

CARRIED 8/0

Reason for Decision

Suspending Standing Order 4.14 will allow Council sufficient time to conclude the business of Council.

NOTE: DIRECTOR PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT LEFT THE MEETING AT 9.02PM AND RETURNED AT 9.08PM.

NO 4319) (MINUTE 17.1 (OCM 08/07/2010) COCKBURN **VOCATIONAL CENTRE (INC.) - LEASE AGREEMENT - 81** CORDELIA AVENUE, COOLBELLUP (1105101) (R AVARD) (ATTACH)

RECOMMENDATION

That Council:

- (1) enter a lease agreement with the Cockburn Vocational Centre (Inc) for the lease of a portion of the Coolbellup Community Hub at 81 Cordelia Avenue, Coolbellup, subject to the following conditions:
 - 1. An area of 214 sq.m. as defined in the attached plan.
 - 2. At an annual lease fee of \$13,325 (exc GST).
 - 3. The lease fee is to be increased by Perth CPI annually on the anniversary date of the lease, using the latest quarter of the annualised Perth CPI index as published by the Australian Bureau of Statistics as the base of calculation.



- 4. For a lease period of 3 years with an option for a further term of 2 years.
- 5. Other terms and conditions as agreed with the Cockburn Vocational Centre (Inc.); and
- (2) discount the lease fee for the 2008/2009 for the Cockburn Vocation Centre by \$5,429.08.

COUNCIL DECISION

MOVED Mayor L Howlett SECONDED CIr S Limbert that Council adopt the recommendation subject to the following amendment to item (1) point 2 and item (2):

- (1) as recommended:
 - 1. as recommended.
 - 2. at an annual lease fee of \$5,000 (exc GST).
 - 3. as recommended.
 - 4. as recommended.
 - 5. as recommended; and
- (2) write-off the amount of \$5,427.08 owed by the Cockburn Vocational Centre to the City of Cockburn for the 2009/2010 financial year.

CARRIED 8/0

Reason for Decision

The Cockburn Vocational Centre, is a not for profit incorporated organisation that continues to provide a valuable service to the community in terms of computer and other training. During the recent renovations of the Coolbellup Hub, substantial disruption occurred to their day-to-day activities and adversely impacted on their ability to offer services to their clientele. Complaints from their clientele also occurred when they arrived at the Cockburn Vocational Centre for booked training sessions to find the impact of lighting, air conditioning and access to, or lack thereof, the toilet facilities meant that their training program(s) were severely compromised.

8

Item (2) is a correction to a typographical error in terms of the financial years and in the amount of \$5,429.08 to reflect the correct figure of \$5,427.08.

Background

The Cockburn Vocation Centre (Inc) (CVC) has been operating from an area within the Coolbellup Community Hub for many years. The most current lease expired on 30 June 2005. There was an exchange of letters between the City and the CVC which continued the terms and conditions of the lease until June 2009. The CVC lease has now expired for the premises that it currently occupies. The decision not to enter a new lease with the CVC was a result of the deliberations of Council in relation to the proposal to redevelop the facilities and the status of the Coolbellup Library.

The Coolbellup Community Hub redevelopment is due for completion toward the end of June 2010. Whilst the CVC lease area has been relatively undisturbed there a number of improvements made and funded by the City; new signage on the building indicating the location of the CVC; new carpets, internal repaint, new telephone system, and new air-conditioning to serve the CVC area only.

Submission

The CVC has written to the City seeking a new lease for the premises they occupy and seek from Council a waiver of 9 months of lease fees for the period 1 October 2009 to 30 June 2010.

Report

For clarity the report has been divided into two sections the first deals with the request by the CVC for a reduction in rent for the past year and the second section addresses the matter of a new lease for the CVC of the premises they occupy. There are matters such as the extent of the benevolent nature of the organisation and the nature of services offered which could impact on consideration of both issues.

The development of the Coolbellup Community Hub has been a significant refurbishment project that involved extensive renovation of the existing building and new additions. Every attempt was made to minimise the impact upon the operation of the CVC, which remained open for the vast majority of the time, whilst the works were taking place. Inevitably there were some unexpected impacts on the Centre due to for example electrical faults and noisy work interfering with some classes. The significant storm in March also impacted on the CVC due to water leaks resulting in faults to the telephone system and damage to walls. The builder has questioned whether the works were the cause of the problems but rather simply due to the intensity of the

storm. So that the matter would not be drawn out the City agreed to replace the telephone system owned by the CVC and have agreed to put in new carpets and paint the internal walls.

In the attached correspondence the CVC argues that it ought to be given a waiver on its rent for nine months due to the disruptions to their services. The rent currently paid by the CVC is \$10,854.16 p.a. for 214 sq.m. which translates to \$50.72 per sq.m. plus outgoings. The commercial rate is considered to be \$100 to \$150 p.a. per sq.m. plus outgoings. Given the accommodation is a high standard for Coolbellup and within a precinct with good customer traffic and profile \$125 per metre seems reasonable. On this basis the commercial rent is in the vicinity of \$26,750. It is evident that the current rent payable by the CVC is heavily discounted. Whilst it is acknowledged that there was some disruption during building works the CVC was still able to operate and generate income. In this context a discount of 50% that is, 6 months rent free period for the past year for inconvenience and loss of income appears very reasonable.

CVC is an incorporated community association with a membership of 6. The executive is comprised of a President, Secretary and Treasurer and three committee members. The Secretary and Treasurer are also paid members of staff.

The funding for the service provided are from State and Commonwealth funding programs and funds for which the not-for-profit and for profit sector compete.

The catchment population for CVC services include significant numbers of socially disadvantaged individuals and families and the success in attracting funds will in part be a reflection of this. There is a need for this type of service in the area. The matter then for consideration in determining a fair rent is the balance between the extent to which the CVC can be considered a benevolent organisation and the value of the services it offers to the local community. It is proposed that a rent of 50% of the commercial rate of \$125/m² p.a. plus outgoings is appropriate ie. \$13,375 which is \$257.20 per week which is compared to an annual fee of \$10,854.16 or \$208.73 per week currently required to be paid.

The CVC have reviewed the current lease and are prepared to proceed with a new lease based on the old lease other than the question of the level of rent payable.

Strategic Plan/Policy Implications

Lifestyle and Aspiration Achievement

 To facilitate and provide an optimum range of community services and events.

Governance Excellence

 To conduct Council business in open public forums and to manage Council affairs by employing publicly accountable practices.

Employment and Economic Development

• To encourage development of educational institutions that provides a range of learning opportunities for the community.

Budget/Financial Implications

The CVC has paid rent up to 30 September 2010 and have outstanding rent of \$5,427.08 and a further \$2,713.54 due by 30 June 2010, a total for the period to 30 June of \$8,140.62 based on the previous lease agreement.

Legal Implications

The Local Government is exempted from the requirements of Section 3.58 of the Local Government Act by way of the Clause under the Local Government (Functions and General regulations) 1996 Section 30 (b) (i) that the Old Jandakot School Management Committee is deemed to be an organisation the objects of which are of a charitable, benevolent, religious, cultural, educational, recreational, sporting or other like nature.

Community Consultation

N/A

Attachment(s)

- 1. Minutes of CVC Annual General Meeting of 11 December 2009.
- 2. Copy of audited statements for the past 2 years.
- Current list of Office bearers.
- 4. Documentation for a request for consideration for a reduced lease fee.

Advice to Proponent(s)/Submissioners

The Proponent(s) and those who lodged a submission on the proposal have been advised that this matter is to be considered at 8 July 2010 Council Meeting.

Implications of Section 3.18(3) Local Government Act, 1995

Nil.

18. EXECUTIVE DIVISION ISSUES

Nil

19. MOTIONS OF WHICH PREVIOUS NOTICE HAS BEEN GIVEN

Nil

20. NOTICES OF MOTION GIVEN AT THE MEETING FOR CONSIDERATION AT NEXT MEETING

Nil

- 21. NEW BUSINESS OF AN URGENT NATURE INTRODUCED BY COUNCILLORS OR OFFICERS
 - 21.1 (MINUTE NO 4320) (OCM 08/07/2010) PROPOSED CHANGES TO SCHOOL ZONES

COUNCIL DECISION

MOVED Mayor L Howlett SECONDED CIr T Romano that Council:

- (1) support the proposal to amend all School Zones to *Fixed whole-of-school day School Zones (7.30am to 5.00pm)* due to be considered by the Road Safety Council;
- (2) inform the West Australian Local Government Association accordingly on or before 19 July 2010; and
- (3) give urgent consideration to LED flashing display boards being installed at all schools.

MOTION LOST 1/7

MOVED CIr S Limbert SECONDED CIr V Oliver that Council:

- (1) not support the proposal to amend all School Zones to *Fixed whole-of-school day School Zones (7.30am to 5.00pm)* due to be considered by the Road Safety Council;
- (2) support the current School Zones system;
- (3) inform the West Australian Local Government Association accordingly on or before 19 July 2010; and

87

(4) give urgent consideration to LED flashing display boards being installed at schools, where required.
CARRIED 5/3

Reason for Decision

The proposal speaks for itself.

22. MATTERS TO BE NOTED FOR INVESTIGATION, WITHOUT DEBATE

22.1 (OCM 08/07/2010) - MATTERS TO BE NOTED FOR INVESTIGATION, WITHOUT DEBATE

CLR ROBYN O'BRIEN has requested that Officers prepare a report for consideration by Council at the August 2010 Council Meeting on the Publisher of the Herald's request to Council dated 2 July 2010 for a formal, independent inquiry into the awarding of the advertising tender 04/2010 to the Community News/Cockburn Gazette.

23. CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS

Nil

24 (MINUTE NO 4321) (OCM 08/07/2010) - RESOLUTION OF COMPLIANCE (SECTION 3.18(3), LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1995)

RECOMMENDATION

That Council is satisfied that resolutions carried at this Meeting and applicable to items concerning Council provided services and facilities, are:-

- integrated and co-ordinated, so far as practicable, with any provided by the Commonwealth, the State or any public body;
- (2) not duplicated, to an extent Council considers inappropriate, services or facilities as provided by the Commonwealth, the State or any other body or person, whether public or private; and
- (3) managed efficiently and effectively.

88	

recommendation be adopted.	
	CARRIED 8/0
25 (OCM 08/07/2010) - CLOSURE OF MEETING	
MEETING	G CLOSED AT 9.18PM
CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES	
I, (Presiding Member minutes have been confirmed as a true and accurate record of) declare that these the meeting.
Signed: Date:/	/

MOVED CIr C Reeve-Fowkes SECONDED CIr S Limbert that the

COUNCIL DECISION